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* Includes the development sites, sales offices and vicinity areas.j
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Some cases completed in the year were brought forward from
previous years. The figures include prima facie cases referred
to and dealt with by the Disciplinary Committee and non-prima
facie cases disposed of by the Complaints and Enforcement

Sections.
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Corporate Profile

About Us

The Estate Agents Authority (“EAA”) is a statutory body
established in November 1997 under the Estate Agents
Ordinance (“EAQ”). Its principal functions are to regulate the
practice of the estate agency trade in Hong Kong, promote
integrity and competence within the industry, and facilitate
training for practitioners to ensure a proper standard of
conduct.

The EAA organises qualifying examinations, issues licences
to individuals and companies, handles complaints against
licensees, conducts compliance inspections and metes out
disciplinary sanctions to practitioners who have breached the
EAO. The EAA also organises activities for the professional
development of the trade and promotion of consumer
education.

The EAA is a self-financing body. It consists of a Chairman, a
Vice-chairman, and not more than 18 ordinary members from
various sectors in the community, including the estate agency
sector. The Chairman, Vice-chairman and every ordinary
member are appointed by the Chief Executive of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region.
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Vision & Mission

Our Vision
The EAA strives for

° excellence in regulating the practice of the estate agency
trade, for the protection of consumers’ interests; and

o supporting the development of an estate agency
profession worthy of the respect of the community.
Our Mission

To regulate the practice of estate agency in Hong Kong, raise
the competence of practitioners and set high standards of
ethics and conduct befitting the trade.

Estate Agents Authority Annual Report 2019/20
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Chairman’s Message

The fiscal year 2019/20 is my 6" year of chairmanship at the
Estate Agents Authority (“EAA”). It is also probably the most
challenging year for the economy of Hong Kong in recent
decades. Notwithstanding the difficult environment, the trade
continues to practise with professionalism and serve the
community with enthusiasm.

Licensee standards

The introduction of the licensing regime came into force in
1999. In the beginning all practising estate agents were offered
conditional licences and were exempt from having to pass
any examinations for a three-year transitional period. At that
time licensees’ professional knowledge, their understanding
of the then new Estate Agents Ordinance, and their business
ethics were all called into question. Looking at the situation
today, | am pleased to see more than 98% of our licensees
have passed the rigorous licencing examinations and more
than 33% now have academic qualifications at degree level.
In addition, to further improve their professional knowledge
the EAA introduced the voluntary Continuing Professional
Development Scheme for licensees in 2005 and up to the
end of March 2020 around 980,000 points have been earned
and some 41,400 licensees have attended courses under this
programme.

Complaint handling

Having to deal with a high number of complaints used to be a
serious headache for the Authority’s Disciplinary Committee.
Six years ago, the EAA implemented the “prevention is better
that cure” strategy to deal with complaints proactively. Instead
of investing a lot of resources to bring the complaints to
hearings, the EAA issued practice circulars with frequently
asked questions and answers to educate the licensees on what
to pay attention to and what to avoid in order not to become
the subject of a complaint. This complaint prevention approach
together with the generally improved knowledge level of the
licensees is proven effective and is one of the main reasons
for the continuous reduction of complaints. The number of
complaints the EAA received is 268 in 2019/20, which is the
record low in the twenty three years’ history of the EAA.
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FFEHEE Chairman’s Message

Estate Agents Authority
Hong Kong

First-hand property issues — order and
rebate

The red-hot sales of first hand properties in the past three to
four years created two problems for the Authority. Motivated
by the high commission offered by the developers, the
licensees failed to behave orderly at the sales sites. Some of
those failures developed into fist fights among licensees which
brought disrepute to the trade. Another problem which was of
equal magnitude was the dispute between the licensees and
the property buyers who complained that the licensees always
failed to honour their rebate promises.

To deal with the order issue, the EAA introduced a series of
measures. Each team of licensees working at sales sites must
be led by a responsible estate agent of 10 years’ standing
with at least five years in a managerial role and who must keep
a daily list of licensees working at the site he is responsible
for. Externally, the EAA successfully obtained the support
of 35 developers who agreed to sanction those teams who
performed badly on the order issue.

On the rebate issue, the EAA on the one hand educated the

public to document properly the rebate offer and on the other
hand heightened the penalties on offenders.

Estate Agents Authority Annual Report 2019/20
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Chairman’s Message

The Trades’ contribution to the Financial
Action Task Force (“FATF”)’s evaluation
on the Anti-Money Laundering/Counter-

Terrorist Financing regime in Hong Kong

Hong Kong became the first jurisdiction in the Asia-Pacific
region to have achieved an overall compliant result of the
FATF evaluation. The evaluation involved all the financial
professions in Hong Kong as well as the designated non-
financial businesses and professions, and the estate agency
sector was included as one of the professions under scrutiny.
Through the drills and trainings organised by the EAA, the
trade representatives put up an impressive performance, which
contributed to the passing of the evaluation and enabled Hong
Kong to qualify as a whole team.

Office purchase and cost control

Among all the expense items of the EAA, rental payment and
staff cost are the two largest items. The continuous growth in
the number of licensees will result in expansions of staff size
and the office premises in tandem if not managed properly.

In 2018, the EAA made use of its reserve that had been
accumulated over the past 20 years to purchase a self-owned
office in Chai Wan. Although the new office was only able to
accommodate 40% of the staff force, it was still considered
a meaningful hedge for 40% of the rental increase. Without
the hedge, the EAA would have to bear 100% of the rental
increase which will virtually happen every year.

To deal with the growth in staff cost, the increased deployment
of the internet to promote straight through service is not only
a way to slow down growth of staff force but also a way to
reduce human interactions, which is the preferred mode of
operation during the pandemic. In 2019, the EAA pioneered
the computer-based salespersons qualifying examination, and
acquired some degree of experience in handling customer
service on a remote basis. These experiences would certainly
be very helpful in re-designing the EAA’s future customer
experience model.
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FFEHEE Chairman’s Message

Pandemic reliefs

In 2020, the licensee’s income was badly affected by the
social movement and the pandemic. As a token of the EAA’s
contribution to ease off licensee’s difficult position, the EAA
made a quick decision to spare some $21 million out of its
office purchase reserve to distribute to all eligible individual
licensees a professional development subsidy of $500 each.
The EAA is also working tightly with the Government to
disburse the relief payments to all eligible individual licensees.
Each of the eligible licensees is expected to have received a
cash subsidy that equals two-year licence fees before the end
of August 2020 from the Government.

Staying positive in the public’s eyes

The EAA has always attached great importance to enhancing
the professionalism of the trade. This year, the EAA put
the emphasis into action. A “5A Agent” publicity campaign
was launched earlier in the year to educate and encourage
the trade to obtain the “5A” qualities, namely “Adherence”,
“Ability”, “Accountability”, “Advancement” and “Affinity”.

AN T e WS s =
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Chairman’s Message

In a bid to contribute to society, the EAA initiated its first
Corporate Social Responsibility activity. Earlier in the year,
| joined with more than a hundred volunteers from the trade
together with EAA colleagues to clean up the shoreline of
Shui Hau on Lantau Island. To keep the momentum going, the
EAA launched the Estate Agents Community Service Proposal
Competition with a view to encouraging estate agents to serve
their communities better. The competition aims to encourage
estate agents to identify the needs of the communities they
are working in and to propose community services to address
such needs.

A piece of advice

Looking back over the past years of my affiliation with the
EAA, | have noticed that the compensation structure, the
work pressure, and the supervisors’ management style, etc.
of estate agencies’ management do significantly shape the
behaviours of the licensees, sometimes causing them to cut
corners and to step into the grey areas. | urge the trade to
innovate new ways to manage their sales agents. If the system
can be improved to encourage positive behaviours, | am sure
that the image, the professionalism and trust the licensees
could deserve would be greatly improved. It is an area where
leaders in the trade should demonstrate their abilities to make
positive changes for the reputation and integrity of the trade.

Closing

| cannot end this message without thanking the parties who
have walked these years with me in the EAA. My heartfelt
gratitude must go to each of the fellow Board Members for
their tireless commitment and knowledgeable insight.

| would also like to say how assured and delighted | am to
have an outstanding administration team led by our CEO, Ms
Ruby Hon. The EAA’s work could not have been accomplished
without our dedicated staff. | would like to take this opportunity
to express my sincere appreciation to all colleagues in the
EAA Administration.

I must thank all the stakeholders of the EAA, including
developers, estate agency trade members and the
Government, for their continuous support over the years.
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FFEHEE Chairman’s Message

| have a strong belief that our trade will survive through the
bad times. And, as | always say, opportunities are for those
who are vigilant and well prepared. Let’s stay fit and gear up
for the good time to come.

Professor William LEUNG Wing-cheung
SBS, JP
Chairman
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Report of the Chief Executive Officer

This is the seventh report | present as the Chief Executive
Officer (“CEQ”) of the Estate Agents Authority (“EAA”). In
2019/20, the property market experienced a heavy blow due
to social movements and the outbreak of the global COVID-19
pandemic. While people in Hong Kong are adapting to the
evolving situation, the EAA, as always, keeps abreast of the
changing circumstances and stands firm in strengthening the
trade’s compliance and promoting the trade’s image. Here, |
would like to give a brief account of our work on various fronts
during the year.

Licensing figures and a new initiative on
examinations

There was a steady decrease in the licensee population as
a result of the clouded property market. The total number
of Hong Kong property transactions in 2019/20 amounted to
70,532, which was a drop of 6.1% compared to the previous
year. At the same time, the number of individual licences
recorded a mild decrease of 1.26% over that of the previous
year to 39,358 as of 31 March 2020.

On the other hand, the EAA launched the computer-
based examination (“CBE”) for the Salespersons Qualifying
Examination (*“SQE”) in July 2019, with a view to providing an
alternative and convenient mode of examination to the new
entrants. The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic however
caused the cancellation of some qualifying examinations in the
year, resulting in a drop in the number of candidates of 29.8%
compared to that in 2018/19.

Enhancing compliance of the trade

Over the years, the EAA has issued various practice circulars
for the trade to comply with. These circulars serve to heighten
the estate agency trade’s vigilance against non-compliances.
During the year, the order at first-sale sites improved
extensively after the Charter on the Sales of First-hand
Residential Properties was signed by the property developers
in the previous year and the issuance of a subsequent practice
circular on the matter, which strengthens the accountability
of estate agency companies and their management regarding
the effective supervision and management of their employees
deployed to the first-sale sites and barring the deployment of
non-licensed staff to these sites.
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TR 48 £ [E$R Report of the Chief Executive Officer

Last year, the EAA rolled out a number of educational and
awareness building measures for the trade’s compliance on
the subject of Anti-Money Laundering (“AML”) and Counter-
Terrorist Financing (“CTF”). With our concerted effort, the
trade is more familiar with the requirements on the subject
and the EAA will continue to educate the trade as well as
conduct prudential visits to ensure the trade’s compliance.
The EAA has also started distributing questionnaires to collect
information from the trade to better understand the trade’s
compliance in AML/CTF, which is aimed to assess the AML/
CTF risks faced by the trade and the measures taken by them
comprehensively, which would be useful for the implementation
of AML/CTF supervisory work and education by the EAA in
future.

In addition, the EAA conducted a total of 3,615 inspections to
ensure the trade’s compliance during the year. Among these
inspections, 727 checks were conducted at first-sale sites
and 1,121 visits made to estate agency shops, whereas 689
online property advertisements were screened and 412 online
property portals were inspected. There were also another 666
compliance inspections in relation to anti-money laundering
and counter-terrorist financing requirements.

Estate Agents Authority Annual Report 2019/20
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Report of the Chief Executive Officer

Furthermore, the EAA received 268 complaints in 2019/20, an
8% decrease compared to 291 complaints in 2018/19. On the
other hand, in 2019/20, the EAA revoked a total of 57 licences
because those licensees were no longer eligible to hold a
licence. The EAA has also adjudicated 129 non-compliant
cases (though the number of cases was less than that for
2018/19 due to the suspension of inquiry hearings amidst the
pandemic) and a total of 123 licensees were disciplined.

Promoting professionalism and the
image of the trade

Separately, the EAA had launched a number of initiatives in
2019/20 to promote the trade’s positive image to the public.
In June 2019, the EAA initiated its first Corporate Social
Responsibility (“CSR”) activity and co-organised the event
titted “My Home Hong Kong - Estate Agents Coastal Cleanup
Day” with the Environmental Protection Department. As one of
the participants that day, | was delighted to see that over 100
volunteers from the trade helped clean up the shoreline of Shui
Hau on Lantau Island.

As well as the above, the EAA also kicked off its new wave
of “56A Agent” promotion in early 2020 to keep the momentum
of promoting the trade’s professional image since the first
campaign rolled out in early 2019. The aim of the campaign
was to introduce the “5A” excellent qualities a professional
estate agent should attain, which include “Adherence”,
“Ability”, “Accountability”, “Advancement” and “Affinity”. The
new wave of promotion has reached all estate agency shops
and reminded all licensees to be a “5A Agent” at all times.

Speaking of “Advancement”, the EAA continued to spare no
effort in promoting the Continuing Professional Development
(“CPD”) Scheme during the year. With a view to fostering
cross-discipline exchanges between the estate agency trade
and professionals of other sectors, a new series of CPD
seminars titled “Top Tips by Elites” was launched in December
2019 so as to enrich the learning experiences of the trade.

The EAA fully understands that the estate agency trade
was facing a difficult operating environment in 2019/20.
Hence, after thorough discussion with the eight major trade
associations, and with their support as well as the approval of
the EAA Board, the EAA announced in January 2020 it would
offer a one-off professional development subsidy of $500 to
each eligible individual licensee to assist them in developing
and maintaining their professional service standard.
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Outreaching to the public

The EAA always attaches great importance to consumer
education. In 2019/20, one of the focuses was to draw the
attention of the public to the risks associated with purchasing
non-local properties. Apart from publishing in February 2020
a new booklet titled “Purchasing Non-local Properties Be
SMART” with cases illustrated in a comic style to highlight the
essential issues to be considered before purchasing properties
outside Hong Kong, the EAA also organised a public seminar
under the same title in March 2020. It was the EAA’s first time
to hold a public seminar via a social media channel due to
the impact of the pandemic. By sharing views on the property
markets in different countries and the important points-to-note
when purchasing non-local properties, the response from the
public on the seminar was overwhelmingly positive.
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Report of the Chief Executive Officer

Forward planning

In 2020/21, the EAA will provide assistance to the Government
and the trade to conquer the impact of COVID-19 pandemic
on the estate agency sector. The EAA will continue its effort
in strengthening the compliance of the trade by various
means of inspection and trade education, so as to uphold the
professionalism and ethical standards of the practitioners.
In particular, the EAA will further enhance the knowledge of
the trade on AML/CTF to achieve sustainable compliance
and improvements in the effectiveness of the trade’s
implementation of the relevant guidelines.

(CRRIEERRBLREXEREETERAE  THEHBIY LT PITRERLHEEARRE EAZRERERL L
(from left) EAA Director of Services and Professional Development Mr Ivan Wong, Chief Executive Officer Ms Ruby Hon, Director
of Operations Mr U Keng Chan and Director of Regulatory Affairs and General Counsel Ms Juliet Leung

HEMREBEER 2019/20 F3k



IS =

RANBERT  EERBAEFRTK
FRETIE 2R - [BFOHENEIX
FEFERBA  Htos®e &
B ARMERERRNKE - B0
AAMRLBEHEEREFEMEMBES
BRE-—BEMETHNEERS ER
MX$: TARFEER - RFHNE
EMRAZEM —EL T\ TEMY
HESH ©

HEARPIEERFTRIBARER A
BARNFREERERFKHEH - BlEDM
TEAENFES  EERTMERER
REREHGER  #EERRAFEX
SR ©

RPE
1T AR,

1T #AE [E$R Report of the Chief Executive Officer

Acknowledgements

| must acknowledge that all the EAA’s work in the year could
only have been made possible with the full support of our
stakeholders, including the Government, other public bodies,
media, and the estate agency trade members. My heartfelt
gratitude goes to the EAA Chairman and other Board members
for their invaluable advice, foresight and support throughout
the year; and | am also indebted to our hard-working directors
and colleagues of the EAA for their untiring efforts and support
rendered to me.

Despite the challenges in a time of uncertainty, | am confident
that with our passion, our ingenuity, and our resilience, the
EAA and the trade can surf through the hard times and
continue to strive for excellence in the years ahead.

Ruby HON Yuen-ping
Chief Executive Officer
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Corporate Governance

To enhance public trust in the EAA and for the best interests of
its stakeholders, the EAA spares no effort in taking corporate
governance to a higher level and reaching a high standard of
integrity, impartiality, accountability and transparency when
discharging its duties under the Estate Agents Ordinance
(“EAQ”).

Governance Framework

Governance structure

ZEEF/ M The EAA Board, Standing Committees and Working Panel

% 28 I&FE /) \E

¢ Strategic Development and Management Committee
Disciplinary Committee
Licensing Committee
Practice and Examination Committee
Professional Development Committee

Section 28 Investigation Panel

BEMRERE
Accountability and Transparency

e Stakeholders

ES

HEMREBEER 2019/20 F3k

(e.g. the public, trade
and the Government)

EENEE

Supervision and Guidance

FEiER

Checks and Balances

E7& M * The Ombudsman's Review
* Appeals
ANEBEEAZ e External Audit
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The EAA Board and composition
The Board

The highest decision-making authority of the EAA is the Board.
It sets the overall strategic direction and policies of the EAA,
such as considering and endorsing its corporate plan, annual
work plan and annual budget. It also supervises and monitors
the performance of the EAA Administration.

Board composition

The constitution of the EAA Board is stipulated by the EAO.
The EAA Board consists of a Chairman, a Vice-chairman, and
not more than 18 ordinary members from different sectors
of the community, including the estate agency sector and
the Transport and Housing Bureau. All Board members are
determined and appointed for a fixed term by the Chief
Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
After appointment, new Board members will be provided with
briefings and information packages by the EAA Administration
to familiarise themselves with the work of the EAA.

Board members come from varied backgrounds with diverse
knowledge, experience and expertise, including the sectors
of estate agency, property development, business, legal,
surveying, finance, accounting professions, consumer affairs
and academia. They bring to the Board their own wisdom and
independent perspectives. The combination of members from
within and outside the estate agency trade also provides the
Board with a more balanced and holistic view when setting
policies and identifying measures. The names and details of
all current Board members are listed in the next section of this
report.

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”)
of the EAA are held by different persons and their roles are
segregated. The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board
in enforcing the EAO, setting strategies and policies for the
EAA, while the CEO is the head of the EAA Administration
responsible for executing the decisions of the Board and
administering everyday business and affairs of the EAA.
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E =5 /X & Board membership

BERATHL
Ms Elaine LIU Yuk-ling, JP

KER

Barrister-at-law

RKHFHESBS KM+

BRERXRERATDVUTER

Executive Director and Chief
January 2020)

Professor William LEUNG Wing-cheung, SBS, JP

WeLab RITHITESERITHRARK(£2020F1/17H)
Executive Chairman, Planetree International Development Limited

Executive, WeLab Bank (Up to 17

o EREMRBEBEIE c

o EEBRABESREMA c

s BRAIBEMBTLERR o
AEERER

o ANNBREZECEAKE o
(Z22019F3 A31H)
o EBELHEESSRERE

s CEEFEZERERE c

s BREFZEGLIRE

s BHBLHKEEGRRLE

s THLFKEEGRERE

s IREBEXEERZBRAL
REZBEXF

s TRMMBMPLLER
BgXF
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Chairman, Licensing Appeals Board
Deputy Chairman, Board of Review
(Inland Revenue Ordinance)

Deputy Chairman, Administrative
Appeals Board

Member, Travel Industry Authority
and Chairman of its Disciplinary
Committee

Chairman, Disciplinary Committee of
Financial Dispute Resolution Centre

Chairman, Legal Aid Services Council
Advisor, Our Hong Kong Foundation
Chairman, Governing Board of Hong
Kong Creative Arts Centre Limited
Ex-officio Member, Manpower
Development Committee

(Up to 31 March 2019)

Vice Chairman, Hong Kong Heart
Foundation

Member, Advisory Board of Yan Oi Tong

BlEFE VICE-CHAIRMAN
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Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee,
JP

Consultant of Kwok, Yih & Chan

(From 1 June 2019)

Of Counsel, Jones Day International

Law Firm (Up to 31 May 2019)

e Member, Solicitors Disciplinary
Tribunal Panel

e Chairman, Appeal Tribunal Panel
(Buildings)

e Chairman, Appeal Panel
(Housing)

e Chairman, Fishermen Claims
Appeal Board (Trawl Ban)

e Observer, Independent Police
Complaints Council

e Member, Appeal Panel (Housing)
(2013-2019)

e Adjudicator, Registration of
Persons Tribunal (2008-2014)

Ms Meena DATWANI

Senior Advisor (Financial Services

Regulatory Affairs), Ernst & Young

e Member, White Paper Advisory
Council, Private Wealth
Management Association

e Board Member, Pathfinders

Professor Eddie HUI Chi-man,

MH

Professor, Department of Building

and Real Estate, The Hong Kong

Polytechnic University

e Vice Chairman, The Property
Management Services Authority

e Member, Supervisory Board,
Hong Kong Housing Society

e Member, Committee on Real
Estate Investment Trusts,
Securities and Futures
Commission

e Chairman, Research Committee
of Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors

e Member, Appeal Tribunal Panel
(Buildings)
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Mr Douglas LAM Tak-yip,

SC

Senior Counsel, Des Voeux

Chambers

e Deputy Judge, the High Court
(2017-2018 & 2020)

e Chairperson, Insurance Appeals
Tribunal

e Chairman, Appeal Tribunal Panel
(Buildings)

e Member, Independent Police
Complaints Council and Chairman
of the Legal Committee

e Deputy Chairman, Administrative
Appeals Board

e Member, Disciplinary Chair
Committee, Securities and
Futures Commission

e Member, Special Committee of
the Bar Association on Overseas
Admissions (Civil) and the
Investment Committee
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(2006-2012)

Ms Imma LING Kit-sum

Retired Assurance Partner,
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Independent Non-executive Director of the
following listed companies in Hong Kong:
— Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited
— Wise Ally International Holdings
Limited

— Raymond Industrial Limited

— EVA Precision Industrial Holdings
Limited

e Council Member, The Education
University of Hong Kong

e Member, Hospital Governance
Committee, Hospital Authority

e Member, Appeal Board Panel (Town
Planning)

e Council Member and Audit Committee
Member, Hong Kong Federation of
Youth Groups

e Executive Committee Member, Hong
Kong Youth Hostels Association

e Board Member, HKSAR Employees
Compensation Assistance Fund Board
(2006-2012)
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Ms Jane Curzon LO,
JP

Barrister-at-law

Chairman, Accreditation of
Academic and Vocational
Qualifications Appeal Board
Chairman, Security and Guarding
Services Industry Authority
Member, The Torture Claims
Appeal Board

Member, Independent Police
Complaints Council
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(2007-2013)
FHRZEBEWMRENZE
(2013-2017)
EBERTHRRER LFEEER
F % (2013-2019)

Mr NG Kai-man

Chief Executive Officer, Century

21 Hong Kong Limited

e Director, Pok Oi Hospital
(1994-1995)

e Co-chairman, Community Chest
Estates for the Chest Committee
(1995-1996)

Mr Daryl NG Win-kong,

JP

Deputy Chairman of Sino Group

e Member, The 13" Beijing
Municipal Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference

e Chairman, Greater Area Bay
Homeland Youth Community
Foundation

e Chairman, Yeo Hiap Seng Ltd

e Non-Executive Director, The Bank
of East Asia, Limited

e Member, Council of The
University of Hong Kong

e Board Member, M Plus Museum
Limited

Mr Simon SIU Chak-yu,
BBS, JP

Partner, Hastings & Co.

Chairman, Environmental Impact
Assessment Appeal Board Panel
Chairman, Board of Review (Film
Censorship)

Member, The Torture Claims
Appeal Board

Chairman, Appeal Panel
(Housing) (2007-2013)

Member, Appeal Board Panel
(Town Planning) (2013-2017)
Deputy Chairman, HKSAR
Passports Appeal Board (2013-
2019)
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Mr Calvin TSE Shun-lai

Chief Executive Officer, Ka Wai

Property Agency Co. Ltd.

Chief Executive Officer, Ka Hing

Properties Co. Ltd.

e Honorary Chairman, Hong Kong
Real Estate Agencies General
Association

e Chairman, Hong Kong Real
Estate Agencies General
Association (2015-2019)

e Member, Sedentary and
Professional Services Safety and
Health Committee, Occupational
Safety & Health Council
(2013-2019)

e Chairman, Incorporated Owners
of Garden Rivera

30 ERBEER 2019204 %

Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling

General Manager, Commercial

Banking Department, Bank of

China (Hong Kong) Limited

e Member, the Hong Kong Export
Credit Insurance Corporation
Advisory Board

e Member, Employees Retraining
Board

e Co-opted Member, General
Committee of Federation of Hong
Kong Industries

Ms Angela WONG Ching-yi

Deputy Chairman and Managing
Director, Midland Holdings Limited
Executive Director, Midland IC&I
Limited

Director and Vice President,
Midland Charitable Foundation
Limited

Member, Sponsorship and
Development Fund Committee,
The Open University of Hong
Kong

Standing Committee member,
The Association of Hong Kong
Professionals

Fellow member, The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public
Accountants
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Dr Lawrance WONG Dun-king,
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MH
President, Many Wells Property
Agent Limited

L]

Honorary President, Hong Kong
Chamber of Professional Property
Consultants Limited

Convenor, Real Estate Agency,
Industry Consultative Networks,
Employees Retraining Board
Member, Tuen Mun District
Coordination Mechanism, Social
Welfare Department

Honorary President, Committee
on the Promotion of Civic
Education in Tuen Mun
Vice-President of Tuen Mun
District JPC Honorary President
Council

FERZ L
EBEEEGARE
ABERNESEREESEAR
R EESNEEREE
it TR BB R A RSN
ZE8eX8
KA EREEREE
BERYFHENEEERES
ML EEEERES

B, o¥

Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han

Chief Executive, Consumer
Council

Ex-officio Member, Management
Committee of the Consumer Legal
Action Fund

Member, Advisory Committee on
Travel Agents

Member, Deposit-taking
Companies Advisory Committee,
Hong Kong Monetary Authority
Member, Travel Industry
Compensation Fund Management
Board

Member, Committee on Reduction
of Salt and Sugar in Food
Member, Steering Committee on
Prevention and Control of Non-
communicable Diseases
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Mr Ricky WONG Kwong-yiu

Executive Director, Wheelock and
Company Limited

Managing Director, Wheelock
Properties (HK) Limited

Ex-officio Member, Social
Enterprise Advisory Committee of
Home Affairs Bureau

Chairman, Advisory Committee on
Enhancing Self-Reliance Through
District Partnership Programme,
Home Affairs Department
Director, Hong Kong Green
Building Council

(Up to 31 December 2019)
General Committee Member,
Employers’ Federation of Hong
Kong

Fellow Member, Royal Institution
of Chartered Surveyors

31



B b

Corporate Governance

ERHESLEMH REFZL f i Sl AT AP A
PRBEREARADNEABEER  RABARBKERATEABA BERREERINER(EE)
THRAR - EEREZAGRIPIMEZERZ (BEWREERRYERER(ERIR
« PREEESHERARER 8 %)
« BEONBRREZESABERLE o EEEEZECAPEENEZEE

BIFRES ®Z8
« EEEERARTBARBERE  « ARAAEBENILAEARTH
- EBRERERRERRGHNES B TEMAZE

#%8

s HERHBAEABEEETH

B8
o EABEM(ALBR)BAZEGK

=
=

Mr Addy WONG Wai-hung, Ms Avon YUE Nga-fong Mrs Alice CHEUNG CHIU Hoi-yue,
MH JP
Chairman and Chief Executive Partner, Ernst & Young Advisory Deputy Secretary for Transport and
Officer — Asia Pacific, Centaline Services Limited Housing (Housing)
Property Agency Ltd e Member, Tender Committee of (Representative of Permanent
e Chairman, Centaline Charity Fund Housing Authority Secretary for Transport and
Limited e Member, Subsidised Housing Housing (Housing))
e Hon. Chairman & Councillor, Committee of Housing Authority
POLCCF Dialysis Centre e Member, Mainland Fishermen
e President, Hong Kong Deckhands Scheme

Professionals and Senior
Executives Association

e Member, Infrastructure
Development Advisory
Committee, Hong Kong Trade
Development Council

e Member, Council on Professional
Conduct in Education, Education
Bureau

e Member, Personal Data (Privacy)
Advisory Committee
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Committees and panel

There are five standing committees and one working panel
under the EAA Board to oversee the various aspects of the
EAA’s work. All committees shall consist of at least three
members. All committee members are appointed by the EAA
Board.

The EAA Board may also set up panels and work groups to
deal with particular issues from time to time. When necessary,
the EAA may also appoint other persons (i.e. Board-appointed
members) who are not members of the EAA Board to the
committees, panels or work groups. For example, a Section
28 Investigation Panel was set up to monitor the use of the
investigative powers under section 28 of the EAO. This Panel
will only meet on a need basis. In 2019/20, there was no
meeting held.

Upon the change of the name from the former Finance and
Strategic Development Committee to Strategic Development
and Management Committee and the revision of its terms of
reference since 1 November 2018, the committee has put
more focus on the deliberation of strategic issues related
to the estate agency trade as a whole, in addition to its
normal functions on scrutinising financial matters and human
resources management of the EAA.

Terms of reference of the standing committees and working
panel of the EAA in 2019/20, are listed in the following section.

Terms of reference and membership
Strategic Development and Management Committee
Terms of Reference:

1. To consider strategic issues of long-term significance, in
preparation for consideration by the Board.

2. To align the work and decisions of the various standing
committees and/or work groups/panels of the EAA
with a view to achieving common goals and resolving
divergences (if any) which may arise in connection with
or out of the carrying out of their respective functions.

3. To monitor trade and community response to the EAA
regulations, policies and measures and, on such basis,
recommend appropriate actions to the Board and/or the
standing committees for consideration.
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To examine issues of major financial significance, in
particular, draft statements of accounts, appointment
of external auditor, staff cost implications, budgetary
matters, long-term financial planning and asset
management, and to make recommendations to the Board
for consideration.

To review and endorse the annual work plan and budget
prepared by the Administration and to recommend the
same to the Board for consideration.

To devise guidelines for and make recommendations to
the Board on the investment of the EAA monies.

To examine issues of major significance in human
resources management, in particular, the pay structure,
remuneration and allowance policies and terms and
conditions of employment of the EAA employees
(including the Chief Executive Officer and Directors), and
to make recommendations to the Board for consideration.

To review and approve establishment structure,
reorganisation, manpower planning and development of
human resources policies and procedures.

At the direction of the Chairman, to review and evaluate
the performance of the Chief Executive Officer and
Directors for the purpose of confirmation of appointment,
extension of probation, promotion, dismissal, termination
or renewal of employment or other employment related
issues and the granting of any performance-linked
awards, and to make recommendations to the Board for
consideration.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be
directed by the Committee Chairman, comprising any
member(s) of the Committee, to carry out such tasks as
the Committee Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the
findings of the task force; and to make recommendations
to the Board for approval as appropriate.

To perform such other tasks as the Board may from time
to time delegate.
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12. To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating to

the exercise of the Committee’s functions and powers as
and when the Committee considers necessary.

A & Membership:

& Chairman:

ROKFEHIX SBS AF £

Professor William LEUNG Wing-cheung, SBS, JP
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BEHLE -
1. FIMFESIMERF - RUAAFRE

WML G o RELEESR -

BEX - ZENERAEERENE
LREEE  REGLEREEKRDD
55 29(1) R AT1E AV IR AR R (i EE AR 3E
{1 ) 35 29(2) 5 i 17 BX 48 8 F
MER - WHEZBZFRFMEAM
& ETERREENIAR

BEXNERSMFEMERELE
XENKRF  REEBEERTE
FEFBELNCGRTTRD  $1EBE
EESCEIN

EHEERREGEERERD)E
28IHFREMAE BRI ME ME
Z(EmFEsGEAENAEN) -
ZREISRANIETRE LR B E T
(i ERERPIDEXOER - E1T
HR BB BRI °

BRGEERIRHRPIDSE 30 HRIE T2
REBEE TEEARSEENE
o

BRakEEREAWER (BE) HERRK

Ms Imma LING Kit-sum

Ms Elaine LIU Yuk-ling, JP

Ms Jane Curzon LO, JP

Mr Simon SIU Chak-yu, BBS, JP
Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han

Permanent Secretary for Transport and Housing
(Housing) or his representative

Disciplinary Committee

Terms of Reference

1.

To draw up guidelines and procedures to ensure
consistency and fairness in handling disciplinary cases.

To receive, consider and inquire into complaints as
mentioned in section 29(1) of the EAO and submissions
by the CEO as mentioned in section 29(2) of the EAQO that
are referred by the EAA to the Committee, and to conduct
such inquiry as the Committee may think fit after having
considered such complaints and submissions.

To receive and inquire into complaints lodged against
licensed estate agents or salespersons for breaches of
the Code of Ethics, practice circulars or guidelines issued
to the trade from time to time by the EAA.

To consider the reports and recommendations of the
investigator appointed by the EAA under section 28 of
the EAO, with referral by the Section 28 Investigation
Committee, to look into suspected and alleged breaches
or non-compliance of the provisions of the EAO and to
conduct such inquiry as the Committee may think fit after
having considered such reports and recommendations.

To exercise any of the disciplinary powers provided

under section 30 of the EAO as the Committee considers
appropriate.
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Corporate Governance

To attach to licences such conditions as the Committee
may consider appropriate.

To refer from time to time cases of malpractice or
complaints considered by the Committee to other
committees for formulation and/or revision of policies,
practice or regulations for better discharge of the EAA’s
functions.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be
directed by the Committee Chairman, comprising any
member(s) of the Committee, to carry out such tasks as
the Committee Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the
findings of the task force; and to make recommendations
to the Board for approval as appropriate.

To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating to
the exercise of the Committee’s functions and powers as
and when the Committee considers necessary.

A & Membership:

=+ J% Chairman: BERA Tt Ms Elaine LIU Yuk-ling, JP
REE AT Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee, JP
ezt Ms Meena DATWANI
AR XCHX MH Professor Eddie HUI Chi-man, MH
EREERANEAD Mr Douglas LAM Tak-yip, SC
‘AT L Ms Jane Curzon LO, JP
REREE Mr NG Kai-man

X & Members: EAKHE A4 Mr Daryl NG Win-kong, JP
Eillctiosited Mr Calvin TSE Shun-lai
mAFAR L Ms Angela WONG Ching-yi
ST HAEE L MH Dr Lawrance WONG Dun-king, MH
EHBEE Mr Ricky WONG Kwong-yiu
SEME MH Mr Addy WONG Wai-hung, MH
RIS LT Ms Avon YUE Nga-fong
xS A Mr Anthony KWOK Chong
R F Mr Alex LAl Sze-wai

EERE FhRELL Ms Sylvia LEE

Board-appointed BRERBTAE Mr LIU Chi-ming

ETITES EERSGAE Mr Philip POON Chi-ho
TEERSE Mr Newman WONG
EREX T Ms Jessica YIP Mo-ching
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Licensing Committee

Terms of Reference

1.

10.

To consider and recommend licensing requirements for
estate agents and salespersons.

To consider and recommend the criteria for exemption
from the licensing requirements for any particular class of
persons.

To instruct the EAA Administration to process applications
for licences/statements of particulars of business
(“SPOBs”) and to grant or renew such licences/SPOBs to
applicants meeting the licensing requirements.

To consider and if thought appropriate, to approve or
refuse applications for licences/SPOBs brought before the
Committee.

To exercise and perform any and such of the EAA’s
functions and powers under sections 17, 23, 24, 25
and 27 of the EAO and section 9 of the Estate Agents
(Licensing) Regulation.

To set policies relating to licensing matters.

To review and make recommendations on the scale of
licence fees and charges for services provided by the
EAA.

To consider and design the relevant forms and related
documents pertaining to licensing matters.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be
directed by the Committee Chairman, comprising any
member(s) of the Committee, to carry out such tasks as
the Committee Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the
findings of the task force; and to make recommendations
to the Board for approval as appropriate.

To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating to

the exercise of the Committee’s functions and powers as
and when the Committee considers necessary.
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B & Membership:

¥ & Chairman: BB K Fat Ms Jane Curzon LO, JP
k=B BT Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee, JP
AT XHE MH Professor Eddie HUI Chi-man, MH
A NEHS 5 = Mr Calvin TSE Shun-lai
X & Members: EiS=g Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling
EHIBEE Mr Ricky WONG Kwong-yiu
EHEM S E MH Mr Addy WONG Wai-hung, MH
RIEF LT Ms Avon YUE Nga-fong
BER%E Mr LIU Chi-ming
ZEKE .
J'EI_',\/\\ \‘EJE B i
Board-appointed FRso s Rl = A Sr Keith SIU Leung-hung
members: Representative of the Consumer Council -
REEXRL CEEEZEER .
A8 OREREERLIED s @R2UNG ke

HEFEATES = Practice and Examination Committee

s - Terms of Reference

1. HIET ~ st KBTI~ <FE] - ]/E 1. To draw up, review and revise code(s) of ethics governing
HERIEITEMIRTF RS - the conduct and practice of the estate agency trade.

2. WECH ERTEIEG YT E S B E 2. To review and make recommendations on the regulations
RIPBA N ZE NMBIERY - W FEIE under the EAO relating to the practice and operation of
REE - estate agents.

3. THEZELBSHERBITENS 3. To consider and review practices within the trade and
EF % WHIFTsKHRENRER prepare or consider practice circulars or other guidelines
BT IEMS @ Eigs - on various aspects of estate agency work from time to

time.

4, EERZEHRBITLENRIBEMN)RE 4. To monitor compliance of the EAO and its subsidiary
ME EF ~ GRFSFRIY - SRS legislations, code(s) of ethics, practice circulars or other
S EMIES|IAIE N WHEER guidelines; and to liaise with the trade on ways to improve
HEMRFTIRAREKER RIEE = the standard of practice and quality of service.

BJTE ©

5 HIFTHMERBNEXEERZIAN 5. To determine the syllabi and fees for the qualifying
SENER - examinations for estate agents and salespersons.

6. ABRESNNBITIERIZTER] - 6. To set the parameters for the administration of the

HEMREBEER 2019/20 F3k
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To oversee and give direction to the EAA Administration in
the setting and moderation of examination questions and
determination of penalties for breaches of examination
regulations by candidates.

To review and determine the pass marks and commendation
marks for the qualifying examinations and, where
appropriate, those for each part thereof.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be
directed by the Committee Chairman, comprising any
member(s) of the Committee, to carry out such tasks as
the Committee Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the
findings of the task force; and to make recommendations
to the Board for approval as appropriate.

To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating to
the exercise of the Committee’s functions and powers as
and when the Committee considers necessary.

7
0

A & Membership

T & Chairman: BEF BBS K4t Mr Simon SIU Chak-yu, BBS, JP
ajcie-ﬁfhairman: mRMBR L Ms Gilly WONG Fung-han
REERANFALT Mrs Peggy CHEUNG Po-yee, JP
E ¢ Ms Meena DATWANI
P IR MH Professor Eddie HUI Chi-man, MH
EEEBRAERM Mr Douglas LAM Tak-yip, SC
RO L Ms Imma LING Kit-sum
REREE Mr NG Kai-man
FEOKHEAF 4 Mr Daryl NG Win-kong, JP
PRE Members: BB e Mr Calvin TSE Shun-lai
EilS=2 e Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling
=R T Ms Angela WONG Ching-yi
EEIE L MH Dr Lawrance WONG Dun-king, MH
EHIBEE Mr Ricky WONG Kwong-yiu

HIBWELRAE MH

BakFEERTEINWNER(BFE)HERR

Mr Addy WONG Wai-hung, MH

Permanent Secretary for Transport and Housing
(Housing) or his representative

ZHEKE
Board-appointed
members:

ROk S
FERSEE
FERNALE

Mr Louis CHAN Wing-kit

Mr Richard LEE Chi-shing
Mr Paul LEE King-leong

Mr Daniel WONG Hon-shing
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Professional Development Committee

Terms of Reference

1.

To examine the training needs and design appropriate
training programmes to raise the competence of
licensees.

To oversee the implementation of the Continuing
Professional Development (“CPD”) Scheme including-

a. conducting periodic reviews on its focus, scope and
requirements;

b. determining guidelines for assigning Compliance and
Effective Management and All-round Advancement
activities;

c. approving CPD activity providers and evaluating
CPD activities;

d. adopting appropriate CPD activities of other
professions and trades into the CPD Scheme of the
EAA; and

e. monitoring the effectiveness of the CPD Scheme
and making recommendations to the Board as
appropriate.

To advise on professional exchange activities and monitor
the administration of scheme(s) relating to reciprocal
recognition of professional qualifications for the estate
agency trade.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be
directed by the Committee Chairman, comprising any
member(s) of the Committee, to carry out such tasks as
the Committee Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the
findings of the task force; and to make recommendations
to the Board for approval as appropriate.

To obtain such legal and/or expert advice as the
Committee may consider necessary for or in relation to
the proper discharge and exercise of the Committee’s
functions and powers.
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A & Membership:

I & Chairman: AR

Ms Imma LING Kit-sum

E ¢
ERFERKEZM
REARSEE

E RS i
AR L
ERERL

T BARRE L MH

B & Members:

BalkFEERFENER (BE) ARRK

Ms Meena DATWANI

Mr Douglas LAM Tak-yip, SC

Mr NG Kai-man

Mr Daryl NG Win-kong, JP

Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling

Ms Angela WONG Ching-yi

Dr Lawrance WONG Dun-king, MH

Permanent Secretary for Transport and Housing
(Housing) or his representative

EhERT
ZIMA REMRE
Board-appointed S[NESE A
members:
RAlk s (BERIKBHE)
E28IRBE AT
BerERE -
1. BAAAE T 2R R E R F 1.

)56 28 R R F A & M E R ) 2 45
SIFIREFF -

TOREE  BREETENSED
MIE °

RAEBERBOEENREGE)E
28 RAETTRE M RSO HRE R
BB EST(ERBRDDMRE L
HMGEXWERMEXNHENE

2
e

T8 RANMEARREAEFTENASL
ERTERRBRENRE -

EBRECGEERIZIRD)E 28 i 2.

BXMERBEERITHRABFARER 3.

RIFCGHERIR GHI)F 28 REEH 4.

Dr Lennon H.T. CHOY
Mr Ivan IP Kwok-hung
Mr Anthony KWOK Chong

Representative of Vocational Training Council -
Mr Leslie LEUNG Kim-hang

Section 28 Investigation Panel’

Terms of Reference

To formulate guidelines for and procedures on the
selection of cases for investigation under section 28 of
the EAO.

To oversee the conduct of investigation under section 28
of the EAO to ensure its full compliance.

To receive and consider reports and recommendations
from the EAA Administration on suspected or alleged
cases of breaches or non-compliance of a requirement(s)
or other provision(s) of the EAO warranting investigation
under section 28 of the EAO.

To appoint investigator(s) under section 28 of the EAO to
conduct such investigation and carry out such duties as
the Panel considers necessary.

TEBFREZES  BEEFERNEHSH - !
Z/NATE2019/20 F EWEBH L o

Not a standing committee, meet as and when needed. In 2019/20,
there was no meeting held.
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5. BENERBECLERBEIDE 5

28 5/ MAZE B B TR 408
SR -

6. MBPTBRZBNPHEZEREITEU 6.

BRI AR PI)2E 30 R ATRT B MO 42 72
BROMES AR EBERERL
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8. MAR/BTE  BITECGHERE K 8.
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FRETEAMES & REBERIHE S

(Governance

To receive and consider the reports and recommendations
from the investigator appointed by the Panel under section
28 of the EAO.

Where the investigator recommends to the Panel that
the exercise of disciplinary powers under section 30 of
the EAO should be considered, to refer the case to the
Disciplinary Committee for its consideration.

To set up a task force as may from time to time be
directed by the Panel Chairman, comprising any
member(s) of the Panel, to carry out such tasks as the
Panel Chairman may assign; to deliberate on the findings
of the task force; and to make recommendations to the
Board for approval as appropriate.

To obtain legal and/or expert advice or service relating
to the exercise of the EAA’s functions and powers as
prescribed by section 28 of the EAO as and when the
Panel considers necessary.

To exercise and perform any and such of the EAA’s
functions and powers as prescribed by section 28 of the
EAO.

X & Membership:

I & Chairman: ’ E2F BBS AT+

‘ Mr Simon SIU Chak-yu, BBS, JP

AR L
REFLL

Bk & Members:

HEMREBEER 2019/20 F3k

Ms Phoebe TSE Siu-ling

Ms Avon YUE Nga-fong
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ERHELE Meetings attendance
BEGGERBKL)Y) EE2RZH According to the EAO, the quorum for a meeting of the EAA
EEABMELREERERKE AHN shall be at least half of the members of the EAA for the time
—F(BREEXELBERECTH E%,\ being (including the Chairman and the Vice-chairman whether
B HEFETENEERKERSE — present or not). Each member of the EAA present at a meeting
WERE - thereof shall have a vote.
2019/20F E EEREEREZE®E In 2019/20, the number of meetings, the average attendance
R THEREMEZHFE H rates and number of papers considered by the EAA Board and
o standing committees were as follows:
S2%E I HER * REBENWIMHEE
Number of meetings | Average attendance Number of papers
held rate* considered
EE5) R
The EAA Board 8 85% 3
RREERREELZES
Strategic Development and Management 2 79% 10
Committee
Z: = B & *x
B . 1 75% 4
Disciplinary Committee™*
AR
A : 5 73% 12
Licensing Committee
HEREFNEZEE . . 1 20% 4
Practice and Examination Committee
ERRRZAE , 1 58% 12
Professional Development Committee
* ZESHEXRREERRENEERE * The attendance of committees includes Board members and Board-
fERK B - appointed members.
* hiEes LEZRESNEERKER * In addition to attendance at meetings, Board members and Board-
EEREZAKERBEALFLEWR - & appointed members of the Disciplinary Committee are required to sit
B E SR DI+ AR DR - at inquiry hearings for the adjudication of suspected non-compliances

of the licensees.
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Integrity and Impartiality

Standard of conduct

The EAA is fully committed to the principles of honesty,
integrity and fair play in the delivery of its services to the
public.

The EAA is a public body under the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance. All Board members and employees of the EAA
are regarded as “public servants” for the purpose of that
ordinance.

As a statutory body tasked with regulating the practice of the
estate agency trade in Hong Kong, the EAA strives to maintain
the highest possible level of quality service and ethical
standards. To promote and maintain public confidence, all
EAA staff are required to have a high standard of integrity and
conduct. They are required to comply with the EAA’s Code
of Conduct which sets out in detail the basic standards of
conduct in different aspects, including confidentiality, conflicts
of interest and acceptance of advantages. All EAA staff are
briefed on the Code upon their commencement of duty at the
EAA, and may access the document easily at any time through
the EAA’s intranet.

The post-employment sanitisation period for the CEO, Directors
and Managers (including Senior Managers) are respectively
one year, six months and two months. There is also a
prohibition on all staff, including the CEO and Directors, to
take the estate agents or salespersons qualifying examinations
during service and within two months after service.

Disclosure of interest

To foster public confidence in the integrity and impartiality
of the EAA, the EAA adopts a two-tier reporting system on
declaration of interest as a safeguard against potential conflict
of interest. All Board members and Board-appointed members
are required to register their interests with the EAA upon their
appointment to membership and annually thereafter. They are
also required to declare their interests at all EAA meetings in
any subject and matter under consideration by the EAA, and
any conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest which
they may have with the affairs of the EAA. The register of
interests is available for public inspection.

In addition, all EAA staff also have to declare annually if they
have any direct or indirect financial interest in any company
or organisation which competes with the EAA, which the EAA
has business dealings with, or which is being regulated by the
EAA.
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Regarding interests in land and property, all EAA Board
members and Board-appointed members are required to
declare any such beneficial interests they have in Hong Kong
or overseas, without disclosing details of the addresses of
such land or property. Registrable interests include land or
property owned by a member in his/her name or held indirectly
through another company or person. It also includes land or
property which a member has a right over its disposition or
has any pecuniary interest deriving from it. The managerial
staff of the EAA Administration are also required to follow a
similar requirement in declaring their interests in land and

property.
Accountability and Transparency

The EAA considers accountability one of the fundamental
pillars of corporate governance and has built its corporate
structure and management culture based on this concept.
Under the current structure, the Board is accountable for the
overall performance of the EAA. The EAA Administration is
responsible for managing the EAA’s everyday business and is
accountable to the Board for its performance.

Corporate Authorisation Manual

To maintain a high standard of accountability, a Corporate
Authorisation Manual was formulated for the EAA to provide
corporate management authority guidelines. All members of
the EAA, standing committees, work groups/panels and all
staff must act in compliance with the spirit and intent of the
Manual and within the scope of authorities therein conferred.

Access to information

To facilitate the public to access information about the
EAA, the EAA has designated the Director of Services and
Professional Development as the Access to Information Officer
who is responsible for ensuring that requests for access to
information under the EAA’s Code on Access to Information are
properly dealt with in accordance with specific procedures.

EEREREREY  ARHELTY  BHERTY LB
ETRREBMEN  URRBHERE -

The EAA enhances its transparency by publishing
information through various channels, such as media
events, public education activities, EAA publications
and its website etc
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Summary of Applications for Access to Information

REHE HEER o
5 EREH
No of Application )
o Information Requested
Applications Outcome
fE AR Il A
Copies of licences
FR B IR B IR A2 B R AR
- Forms submitted for licence applications
12 fE#Es . o ‘
12 accepted EF' Egﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁXE"MAﬁ%q
2019/20 13 Personal data submitted for licence application
FR B R AR AR A2 ) R R R B S
Documentary proofs of academic qualifications
submitted for licence application
1 {EE4E EXRHERE A
1 declined Information requested already published
FE=EBHNBEER K
Confirmation letter on an education record issued by a
P third party
2018/19 3 A”i”wfj‘ g
accepte B R R R B EEA X
Documentary proofs of academic qualifications
submitted for licence applications
BB RRIRE A A A B R
PN =3 Personal Data submitted for licence application
2017/18 2 =S
All accepted AB A TN
Investigation and inquiry hearing results

EREBEBULEMERMARESRET
IW%@%E MEBFREHLEER
%Eﬁﬁ—ﬁiﬁ WIREIZEGA

CNE—TREAREAE - 2RA]
Fﬁgﬁﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ EERAFR -

?ﬁﬁLﬂﬁ*%@ HEfR - =8N
NRBHERY BERTIVRBUHET

F/BBERE MARENEEEERN
TERBEHER

HEMREBEER 2019/20 F3k

The transparency of the EAA’s work is attained through the
information published at its website and is further enhanced by
furnishing an Annual Report to the Secretary for Transport and
Housing, copies of which have to be laid before the Legislative
Council and are made available to the public at the EAA’s
office and website.

Members of the public are also kept abreast of the EAA’s
work and initiatives through various communication channels,
such as media events, press releases, publicity and public
education activities, EAA publications and its website.
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Publication of inquiry hearing results

The EAA publishes inquiry hearing results on its website to
facilitate members of the public to ascertain the results of the
inquiry hearings conducted by the Disciplinary Committee
pursuant to powers under the EAO on disciplinary matters
concerning licensees or ex-licensees, and to educate both the
estate agency trade and the pubilic.

The Disciplinary Committee adjudicated 129 inquiry hearing
cases in 2019/20 and the EAA has published the inquiry
hearing results of these cases on its webpage titled “Recent
Inquiry Hearing Results”.

The EAA also publishes the reasons for disciplinary decisions
on its website. For details, please refer to the sub-section
headed “Publication of reasons for the decisions of inquiry
hearings” under the section headed “Proactive in Law
Enforcement”.

Independent Checks and Balances

External audit

The EAA’s financial statements are subject to audit by an
external auditor. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu continued to be the
EAA’s external auditor in the financial year of 2019/20.

The main purpose of the external audit is to provide
independent assurance to the Board that the annual financial
statements of the EAA are fairly stated. The appointment
of the EAA’s external auditor is subject to the approval of
the Secretary for Transport and Housing. The Independent
Auditor’s Report and Financial Statements of 2019/20 audited
by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu are included in pages 112 to
152.

Appeals

Under the EAQ, licensees or licence applicants may appeal
against the EAA’s decisions concerning refusal to grant or
renew a licence, or its disciplinary sanctions by writing to the
Secretary for Transport and Housing.

The Secretary for Transport and Housing is required to appoint
a panel of persons for the purpose of hearing such appeals.
The appeals are determined by a tribunal, the members
of which are appointed by the Chairman of the panel from
members of the panel.
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The Ombudsman’s review

The EAA came under the jurisdiction of the Ombudsman on 2
July 2010. In the year of 2019/20, a total of six inquiries from
the Ombudsman were received. Five of them were closed and
unsubstantiated while one is outstanding.

Performance Pledges

As a responsible public body, the EAA has a set of performance
pledges for its services to the public and the attainment level
of the pledges is reviewed regularly. All sections of the EAA
Administration are responsible for maintaining effective internal
controls to monitor the achievement of their pledges to the
public.

Achievement of the Performance Pledges in 2019/20

PR 75 A BV E AR B S

2019/20 FETH M RBERR
E#

Enquiries

PR %5 %8 5!
Service type

CIEEH
Response to enquiries

= EE‘-LEEDEJ (EE —l./%\)

e Telephone enquiries (voice mail messages)

o EHEH
e Written enquiries

ERER
Qualifying Examinations

PR %5 %8 5! bif
Service type Standard

BHAEBMNE®

Issue result slips®

! EERNIERREM—ZER -
: WrRIERET —ETERMBE -

s HEERZEARNEREANBEIRS
RIS B -
HEMREBEER 2019/20 F3k

e EEE
Standard Results

_ 1
. .1I.I1’E9il9ﬂ. 1 G
e Within 1 working day
ET 2
o HEIIERA .65

o Within 7 working days®

EEE

Results

EZABH 14 BAIERRA

1 o,
Within 14 working days after the examination ‘ 00%

The EAA’s working days are from Monday to Friday.

From the next working day following receipt of the enquiry.
8 Issued by the Institute of Professional Education And Knowledge of
the Vocational Training Council, authorised by the EAA to administer
the examinations.
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Licensing
PR3 5l B EEx
Service type Standard Results
BRIR TR IR R R WBFTER %A 10 A ITERA
. L L : N, 99.93%
Process new licence applications Within 10 working days for new applications
ST R B R EFRR 20 [AITIERA
BB AR SRS i
: L Within 20 working days for renewal 100%
Process renewal licence applications L
applications
G TAELIN R HUB BB R R
Lm%ﬂ%?&ﬁ% ?H)bﬁﬁé‘? B .EJE’]EE B 10 ETERR 2
Refund of application fees for rejected/ - : 2 100%
o Within 10 working days
cancelled applications

‘ MEERWZEREAE - HEM R
2 F—EAI{ERER - ZEBIMBR %
FHIERAE (AR HERZA) /L -
MERAFARAEEREREZEEEE
BRARGBNEEENEE NEITER
Hp B ER - RS HEZATNER - &
EREIE I RIERPER - AR HHARL
E=EWDNREERE FEARER
B)EREMFAE  FEAQER  F7
URFEHERIBRAT - Bt EEBR
T BEERIERM -

: MEBOHSIEBHRE 2 T —ETEXE
MEWEER  ABmKRIBEEEZERE
FEAERZ T —EIERLEE -

From the next day following the receipt of an application, the required
fee and documents to the day the licence/statement of particulars of
business is issued (i.e. the day the licence is available for collection).
This service target does not apply to applications which require the
EAA Licensing Committee to determine whether the applicant fulfills
the “fit and proper” requirement and other licensing requirements
as prescribed under the EAO. A longer duration is needed for
such cases for the EAA to make enquiries and for the applicant or
any third party (such as the Official Receiver's Office, trustees-in-
bankruptcy or the Police) to respond before the EAA approves or
rejects the application.

From the next day after an application is cancelled or rejected;
for bankruptcy cases, from the next day following the receipt of
instructions from the Official Receiver's Office or the trustee-in-
bankruptcy.
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Complaints, Enforcement and Disciplinary Proceedings

BR#%5 % B!

Service type

L EE YN &

Acknowledge receipt of written complaints

WE R HBAXHRAORFAELEDCE
Provide a written response to complainants
upon receipt of sufficient supporting documents

o ERE
Standard Results
]
ﬁ.{.IME%W . e
Within 5 working days
i
15 A TERA B—

Within 15 working days

ETEREEAACERRERARTNERER) NREERBEANEARNERFTRCGERNREMER)'

[EF  WHAENAREETARELES ° ]°

Conduct the first disciplinary inquiry hearing for Normal Cases and Complex Cases/Publish admitted

breach(es) on EAA website for Fast Track Cases'

[Note: Not all cases will proceed to disciplinary actions.]?

P L HES
(BRESFFETMXTESEBFEANER)
Fast Track Cases

(Cases dealt with under the New Scheme for
Disciplinary Cases and involving no witnesses)

ANEARSC TER
Within 6 calendar months® N/A

‘ ERRZHE —RERNCEERZEN) !
K EHMBED 2 R~ T ESEH - AR
WEREBREXBE ZHAERT - MEESR
BRAEMAEETHOMNERE  AEMbE
ERER TER L EARETHIELARE
FEA - RIRBRTSAGE I T EA o

: BFARSEFEAGEATHEEEE :
BAAENEARESEEZRETLAER
D RERERRIEARN: EREXERE
BAR: EHERBIEANA -

¢ BB REERNE AR AR R AL °
HERRENBE  K(MERRE RS
N BEERRFRSEAZHEHBSA
EHENEGHRY  EEERLCEFAN
MABRMCERR EBERMEMEER)
HEARHEREEANEERHARMH
RHCERNREER) -

HEMREBEER 2019/20 F3k

The EAA’'s investigation generally focuses on the compliance of
the Estate Agents Ordinance and its subsidiary legislation and the
conduct of estate agents and salespersons in their practice of estate
agency trade. If a case is related to any parallel investigation of
criminal offence or non-compliance with any law or regulation by
other regulatory bodies, or if the case is related to any parallel civil
court action, this performance pledge is inapplicable.

A written notification of whether the case will be recommended
for disciplinary actions will be given to the complainant(s) and the
licensee(s) concerned within 3 calendar months for Fast Track Cases,
within 6 calendar months for Normal Cases, or within 9 calendar
months for Complex Cases.

Commences from the date of the EAA’s written response to
complainants upon receipt of sufficient supporting documents from
them or (if there is no complainant) from the date of the EAA’s
first allegation letter to licensees concerned to the date of the first
disciplinary inquiry hearing for cases proceeding to an inquiry
hearing for Normal Cases and Complex Cases or to the publication
date of admitted breach(es) on EAA website for Fast Track Cases.
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PR 75 %8 51 it EER
Service type Standard Results

ERElEES
CGEREFBRI ASRAZR 2BXEE RHH
EMERER)

Normal Cases

(Cases other than Fast Track Cases
concerning not more than 2 allegations
investigated by the EAA)

EREE R
(BrPRREZR R EBERAIINER)
Complex Cases

(Cases other than Fast Track cases and
Normal Cases)

BARFARRER
Notify complainants of the outcome of the case

BABIRFA (FEA) ERER
Notify complainees (licensees) of the outcome
of the case

FEEXEEE

10fEAMR .
Within 10 calendar months'? 94.34%
13EAR .
Within 13 calendar months'? 88.57%
10 AT{ERA ° .
Within 10 working days® o
10 ATVEXRA * .
Within 10 working days* o

Continuing Professional Development (“CPD”)

AR A% % Bl

Service type

TGBZBE'&EE#—J: \E%ﬁ1 /E@JM\—IE'JEF'.:E
Process applications for endorsement of CPD
activities

N [HRERE] T2NEERERNFHESR
FEEEBHREA

Issue certificates of attendance for EAA-
organised CPD activities

: SRR AR S > LA BERNETL
BRIRR LR BT RAAAEIEHINE
DI I GE e RN B S e RER
ﬁﬂr‘ﬁiﬁﬁi H B B S TR B IR R
A BAR R HF ARG L EE L
REAE  FEAHBEABEETEAA
RRFGAGET -

¢ MRSz Bl RNEERA 7%
BRBERBITLENRASRBLELED
B TREAMEZR E'JJ:AI‘EJ%EZ&%'J%}\%
AR ERBANE 2 H A -

¢ TREBEZRITEERANRFER - )=
BT BEERIEEEMERE ABAE
21 KA » B R TE NSRBI A TR
HZREFTEHE AR EMA I

30 A LIERA
Within 30 working days

1 EEE
Standard Results

20 AT{ERA
Within 20 working days

100%

100%

Commences from the date of the EAA’s written response to
complainants upon receipt of sufficient supporting documents from
them or (if there is no complainant) from the date of the EAA’s
first allegation letter to licensees concerned to the date of the first
disciplinary inquiry hearing for cases proceeding to an inquiry
hearing for Normal Cases and Complex Cases or to the publication
date of admitted breach(es) on EAA website for Fast Track Cases.

Situations out of the EAA’s control, such as no inquiry hearing
date is available after the case is ready for inquiry hearing or the
unavailability of complainant(s), witness(es) and/or the licensee(s)
concerned on the purported inquiry hearing date after the case is
ready for inquiry hearing etc., are disregarded for the purpose of this
performance pledge.

From completion of investigation or, in the event the case is
submitted for an inquiry hearing or dealt with under the New Scheme
for Disciplinary Cases, the date of the letter notifying the complainee
of the result of the hearing.

Excludes cases that have to be submitted for inquiry hearings. For
the latter, the statutory requirement is for the EAA to “within the
period of 21 days beginning on the date of the relevant decision, to
notify in writing the licensee and any other person against whom the
decision is made of the decision...”.
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The EAA Administration

HEEE T
Organisation and People

AR
Organisation structure

TTEARE

Chief Executive Officer

B TR

Director of Operations

REREREERE
Director of Regulatory
Affairs & General Counsel

REREXBRABEE
Director of Services &
Professional Development

EREEBREER

HEBERS EERREER
Corporate Communications/
Board Secretariat

Legal Services &
Examination

Complaints

TENER

Enforcement

AR ED

Disciplinary Proceedings

BAH R AT R ER

Finance & Administration

[ ER BB

Licensing

EMBR R BB T
IT & Data Analysis

ADEIRE

Human Resources

EXBRED

Professional Development
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HWEERLITHE ITHFEH
Non-directorate staff establishment

BRKE R
Senior Manager/
Legal Counsel

AN WA ZENE s
Driver/ Manager

Clerical Assistant

BhEcE
X8 Assistant
Clerk Manager
=R E
Senior Clerk
E1E
Officer

BhEEE
Assistant
Officer FARE THENE GitBHE
Personal Secretary/
Administrative Assistant/
Accounting Assistant
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The EAA Administration

EEE
Management team

 E £ ®m L]
ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY

(&
i)

Q TRemBmELt @ LrngRSEEELL P TxERULENFHHELT
Ms Ruby HON, Mr Danny MA, Ms Maggie TANG,
Chief Executive Officer Manager (Complaints) Manager
. ~ [ _ Professional Development
O HEREEBERERLL O wEERHEENENL+ ( PR
Ms Juliet LEUNG, Ms Anissa CHENG, Q FaFEREABLEBEELL
Director of Regulatory Affairs Manager Ms Susanna KO,
and General Counsel (Corporate Communications) Manager
. m Legal Services and Examination
© BERIETREEINAAL (@ BRGEEZFAELL e )
Mr lvan WONG, Ms lvy LEE, @ BB RSB MBLEENRRELE
Director of Services Manager (Licensing) Mr LAM Ka Man,
and Professional Development o Manager
. D HBRARBEREES K+ T es)
O zEmRREE Ms Wendy POON,
Mr YK LEUNG, Manager
Legal Counsel (Finance and Administration)
O B TmERLHEE P mHEBREBSHLt
Mr CHAN U Keng, Ms Connie FU,
Director of Operations Manager (Complaints)
0O raEmEaEsuat @ TInLEIAELL
Ms Jennifer YUNG, Ms Elvina LEE,
Legal Counsel Manager (Enforcement)
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Staffing and remuneration
Staffing

The EAA Administration is led by the Chief Executive Officer
who is responsible for managing the business of the EAA, and
monitoring and supervising compliance with the Estate Agents
Ordinance. As at 31 March 2020, the staff establishment was
104. The percentage of employees with disabilities was 1%.
The staff turnover rate for 2019/20 was 27%.

Remuneration

The EAA regularly reviews its remuneration policy to ensure
that its remuneration packages are in line with the market
trends, so as to maintain competitiveness in attracting and
retaining talent. An independent consultant was commissioned
to conduct a pay structure review and a pay trend survey
during the year. The pay ranges were revised in line with
the market and the 2020 annual performance-linked pay
adjustment also drew reference from the recommendations of
the consultant.

Remuneration of Chief Executive Officer and Directors
during the year

The total remuneration’ of the Chief Executive Officer and
directors® during the year was as follows:

qF
Number of
individuals
below $1,500,000 1
$1,500,001 to $2,000,000 2
$3,000,001 to $3,500,000 1
Total 4

Total remuneration includes salary, contract-end gratuity and
performance-linked pay, if applicable, paid during the year.

One of the current directors had taken up the position for less than
six months during the year.
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The EAA Administration

Training and communication
Staff training and development

With rising public expectations on the accountability and
transparency of public organisations, the EAA needs to ensure
that its staff are equipped with the necessary competencies
to discharge their duties, respond to the community’s evolving
needs, and achieve consistently high levels of performance.
As part of its human resources strategy, the EAA is committed
to providing various kinds of resources, including in-house
workshops, external training programmes and training
sponsorship to enhance their competencies and support their
career development.

Being employees of a public body, EAA staff should have
a high level of awareness on corruption prevention and
flawless integrity. For this purpose, a talk by the Independent
Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC”) on “Corruption
Prevention” was organised for those staff who had not attended
similar seminars conducted by the ICAC before and for others
to refresh their knowledge.

To enhance staff awareness on the importance of preventing
sexual harassment in the office, EAA commissioned Equal
Opportunities Commission to provide a workshop on
understanding sexual harassment for all staff.

EEREZATERSZESRITTEY  UES

BTHIEREN T -

EAA commissioned Equal Opportunities
Commission to provide a workshop on
understanding sexual harassment for all staff.

FA EERAKEIBRTERER)

B BB ANBRTRABAE THE
oo BB B B THEE B IEARIRE
2 A& RETER BRHEFRBE-

WERIEEER 2019/20F#H

EERREBISRTEKERED  REEBILR -
The EAA organised a team building workshop to boost staff
morale.

The EAA organised a team building workshop during the year
to enhance communication among EAA staff of different ranks
and from different teams, drive staff’s motivation to collaborate
with one another to resolve problems, and to boost staff morale
through achieving common goals.
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Staff were provided with sponsorship for attending their self-
initiated training programmes to enhance their knowledge at
work and to meet individual career development goals.

All these training activities aim to enhance the professional
knowledge and skills of EAA staff, to develop their full potential
and to prepare them for greater challenges and achievements
ahead.

Communication

The EAA reinforces communication among staff through
different channels, including regular meetings among
management staff and sectional meetings, horizontally to
ensure transparency and understanding of the work of different
sections and vertically to convey direction to different rankings
of staff. The senior management further regularly reaches out
to staff through various communication sessions, such as the
sectional briefing sessions to share the latest message and
direction from the senior management on matters such as the
EAA’s corporate plan and organisational changes, as well as
to provide a platform for the staff to share their views.

In addition, the EAA has formed a staff committee with
members comprised representatives of each rank of staff
through elections.

To foster team spirit, informal gatherings such as an annual
Christmas party and lunchtime workshops were arranged
during the year.

EEREINTRI RS EMVERIIETIED o
The EAA staff participated in the latte art workshops during lunch hour.
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The EAA Administration

Corporate and staff awards
Corporate awards

The EAA received the Caring Organisation logo for the fifth
consecutive year presented by The Hong Kong Council
of Social Service in recognition of its commitment and
contribution to “Caring for the Community”, “Caring for the
Employees” and “Caring for the Environment”.

The EAA was also acknowledged as a “Manpower Developer”
again by the Employees Retraining Board for its outstanding
achievements in manpower training and development.

Staff awards

A Manager of the Licensing Section and an Officer of the
Complaints Section received “The Ombudsman’s Award
2019” for “Officers of Public Organisations” in recognition of
their professional and positive attitude in serving the public
and handling complaints and enquiries. This was the fifth
consecutive year that EAA staff have received the awards.

Financial Review

Income and expenditure

For the year under review, the EAA reported a deficit of
$5.1 million after the provision of the one-off professional
development subsidy to individual licensees to be released
from April 2020 to July 2020 (as compared to a surplus of
$12.2 million last year).

The Board approved the provision of the one-off professional
development subsidy to each individual licensee which was
announced in January 2020. Holders of a valid estate agent’s
licence (individual) or salesperson’s licence as at 31 March
2020 would each receive a one-off professional development
subsidy of $500 from the EAA to assist them in developing
and maintaining their professional service standard under the
difficult operating environment. The subsidy payable of $20.6
million was thus recognised as at 31 March 2020. Starting
from April 2020, the subsidy is released to eligible individual
licensees by batches in sequence of licence numbers. The
disbursement of the subsidy is expected to be completed by
end of July 2020. If excluding this exceptional non-recurrent
expenditure, the EAA reported a surplus of $15.5 million for
2019/20.
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EEE BT ERPY The EAA Administration

Income for the year was $91.4 million, a decrease of $1.5
million or 1.6% over the previous year. Expenditure for the
year (excluding the subsidy of $20.6 million) was $75.9 million,
a decrease of $4.7 million or 5.8% compared to the previous
year’s.

Income

Licence fee income, contributing 89% of the total income, was
$81.2 million, representing an increase of $0.2 million or 0.3%
over the previous year. The increase was mainly due to a mild
growth in the number of licensees during the year. Examination
fee income was $6.5 million, representing a decrease of $2.6
million or 28.9% over the previous year, mainly due to the
cancellation of qualifying examinations in February and March
2020 because of the outbreak of COVID-19 during 2019/20.
Interest income was $3.7 million, representing an increase of
$0.9 million or 33.9% over the previous year, due to the rise in
time deposit interest rates during 2019/20 on average; better
management of the duration of time deposits to maximise
the return; and more cash shifted to time deposits placed at
banks.

2018/19

™ [2ERE Licence fees

®» =% Examination fees

» FEUYA Interest income

2019/20
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The EAA Administration

Expenditure

Staff costs, and office premises and related expenses were
two major expenditure items, accounting for about 67.5%
and 11.2% of the total recurrent expenditures respectively.
Expenditure items that saw major increases in dollar amount
were staff costs and professional service fees. Expenditure
items that saw major decreases in dollar amount were office
premises and related expenses, service fees for examinations,
and depreciation of property, plant and equipment.

2017/18
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2018/19

® E TR Staff costs
» A KRR X

Office premises and
related expenses

B Efib others

2019/20

Corporate Social Responsibility

The EAA is committed to integrating corporate social
responsibility (“CSR”) principles into our daily operations and
contributing to the sustainable development of the society. Key
CSR aspects such as community, environment and workplace,
are integrated into all our operational decisions and practices.
Maintaining good CSR practices that align with our role as a
statutory body involves everyone at the EAA.



SRAEREHERMELATENA
T EERENXFIEENEEMEN

MEFES(RE  AxnERA - A8E
FH-RmaE(FIRBEE) - S5F 0 &
ERREXFHEAEEABERTFLEH
SEMAFETHEARTD THEISREE
THESMEES - BRARDTESRS
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EAA staff conducted mock interview with
senior secondary school students at the
Interview Skill Workshop.

BLE R1TIHERFT The EAA Administration

Charity participation

To show our care to the underprivileged and those in need,
the EAA supported various fund-raising activities (e.g. Dress
Casual Day, Love Teeth Day, Skip Lunch Day, etc.) and
supported non-profit making organisations. This year, the
EAA chose to support two events (Interview Skill Workshop
and Go Green Workshop) of the YMCA Corporate Social
Responsibility Programmes. The Interview Skill Workshop is
a brief introduction to job interviews by teaching the skillset
needed and providing a mock interview for senior secondary
school students. Five EAA staff volunteered for the event and
twenty students joined the workshop. The Go Green Workshop
is to help children from low income families understand more
about food sources and low carbon diets. Sixteen EAA staff
volunteered for the event.

EEREIRGB2HEERNT SRR AEERA -
The EAA staff participated in the Dress Causal Day organised by the Hong Kong
Community Chest.
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The EAA joined the
Post-50 Internship
Programme held by the
Employee Retraining
Board in 2019.
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The EAA Administration

Post-50 Internship Programme

The EAA joined the Post-50 Internship Programme held by the
Employee Retraining Board in 2019. The Post-50 Programme
is to provide people aged over 50 with an opportunity to
join the workforce. During the one-month programme, the
participants had the opportunity to develop their strengths in
the workplace and get up to date with the current status of the
job market. After the internships, the EAA voluntarily offered
the participants temporary jobs.

EERXRBEEEEHESF
ShEEMHERETTE THOAE
EIED -

The EAA supported the Go
Green Workshop under the
YMCA Corporate Social
Responsibility Programmes.

Environment

The EAA strives to operate as an environmentally friendly
organisation and promotes the same to its staff. Green
office measures adopted include provision of designated
trays to collect one-side printed paper for reuse; recycling
of paper and toner cartridges; and use of environmentally
friendly printing paper, timer for switching off lighting and air-
conditioning automatically, etc.

The EAA also participated in several environmental initiatives
during the year, e.g. Biz-green Dress Day, Hong Kong No Air
Con Night and Earth Hour.

Combating COVID-19

To reduce risk of the spread of COVID-19, a roster
arrangement for colleagues to work from home was
implemented since the end of January 2020. Meetings were
held online in lieu of physical attendance to prevent cross
infection.

Nonetheless, the opening hours of the EAA reception/service
counter for providing services to the public were maintained
as usual during the period. Precautionary measures were
implemented such as requiring visitors to take a body
temperature check and to wear a face mask before entering
the office premises, to make a prior appointment for service
through an online booking system, etc.
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EEE RITHERFY The EAA Administration

Information Technology

Online services

A number of online functions on the EAA website such as
licence list and inquiry hearing results have been revamped
this year in order to provide easier access and better user
experiences for the public and licensees.

Owing to the COVID-19 pandemic, an online appointment
system to allow licence applicants and licensees to make
prior bookings for acquiring services at the EAA office was
deployed on the EAA’s website which could effectively avoid
the reception area being overcrowded with visitors requesting
services during peak hours.

Moreover, a new designated webpage was created under the
EAA’s consumer education website to provide the public with
useful references in relation to the purchase of properties
located outside Hong Kong, which is a popular topic lately.

New media and channels

In view of the wider acceptance of information delivered in
electronic form recently, the EAA has explored different digital
channels to reach out to the public and to disseminate relevant
information to consumers. During the year, the EAA adopted
an online marketing tool and platform to reach its target
audience effectively. For example, further to the use of display
network of advertisement on internet browser last year, the
EAA adopted Search Engine Marketing (SEM) tool to promote
its new website section about purchasing non-local properties
in the EAA’s consumer education website and the number
of pageviews was doubled during the promotion period. In
addition, the EAA also conducted a public seminar through
online live broadcast on a media’s Facebook page and over
40,000 views were recorded for the recap video.

The EAA will continue to explore the use of new media in
different areas, including CPD seminars, in order to broaden
the reach of its services.

Cyber security

With the ever increasing threat of cyber-attacks and data
leakage, the EAA has constantly reviewed its security platform
and parameters to ensure that they are up-to-date and on a
par with the industry practices.
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Events & Activities

04/2019
m' EERITE I REERES

The EAA launched online registration for its

??Fimﬁfﬁﬁﬁt%%:%%ﬁ%uﬁéé BIER qualifying examinations
Hﬂ)ﬂa.E!ﬁEti
Certificate presentation ceremony of the fifth -
series of the EAA’s Certificate Programme in | BIEBEEREEE DL
Megang

HREFSERERL TRGER
s sewnze) | N N N

Practice held l

MR A

L

06/2019

EERERBEREZTAMINERE — HE
ﬁfi/ﬁ%/@rﬁj REERBREREME
REER-E2ENTEEEED

ﬁﬁﬁ’] [BARIE | B T 8IKER HE R The EAA co-organlsed “My Home Hong Kong
TEABHE (ARELLO) BEM 2 B 2 (Y — Estate Agents Coastal Cleanup Day” with
E%ﬂg) the Environmental Protection Department,
The “5A Agent” publicity campaign was which is the first CSR activity with the estate
awarded the Education Award (Consumer agency trade’s participation

Education) by the international Association of
Real Estate License Law Officials (“ARELLQO”)

EERREXBEEREVNHHEMBEEAD
aTTn+EJ

The EAA launched a pilot scheme of computer-
based examination for the Salesperson
Qualifying Examinations
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09/2019

B IEARR HEZRBS | AMREE
Public Seminar on “Be alert when renting or
purchasing properties with alteration works”
held

EERHEBEXREMUNIEHAREI RN -
BT B BEEBERINZINER

A new designated website section titled
“Purchasing properties located outside
Hong Kong” created at the EAA’s consumer
education website

¥ A OutsideHK.eaa.org.hk
° TREZEM
AEE RS A REERR

SEE)[EEE Events & Activities

08/2019

RN F [ 2 R RGESE — FhE]
New booklet titled “/nquiry Hearing Cases — A
Selection V” published

fnquiry

H{m'mﬁ

EERENEAIEREAIE] —HRREEE
k-3

The EAA introduced its first Estate Agents
Community Service Proposal Competition

. -
as"jv v . < >
3 e < = : :
> BEEs' 12, Q
Estate Agents It B ARTERRFHLLTE

Community Service Proposal
Competition

EEH2017/18 FMEFEIFR ARC Award 5%
The EAA's Annual Report 2017/18 won the
“Bronze” award in the International ARC
Awards Competition

m 2017/18%
A Annuai Report B

“ ARC AWARDS
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m. EE RS A TRAR BRYE T

Two EAA staff awarded The Ombudsman’s
EERHERAEE —EiEe BB+ EE] Award
B B 2T B3 R 5

The EAA introduced a new series of CPD EF‘ pﬁ:g ="F;§
seminars titled “Top Tips by Elites” THE OMBUDSMAN S AWARDS

m' B BE RS BE2010 5/ TIERAN

B . 2020 FEV TEE B,
N E{g ﬁﬁ\ﬁﬁ The EAA met the press to review its work in
ROBETY S R B R EE AR 2019 and introduced its initiatives for 2020

The EAA launched a new wave of “5A Agent”
publicity campaign to promote the trade’s
professional image and encourage consumers
to appoint estate agents of high calibre

A G

g, O}

EEREBNFREEBLEREHMEREIR
DEEEIER
The EAA continued to be recognised as a
Caring Organisation by the Hong Kong Council
of Social Service for the fifth consecutive year

canngorganlsatlon

et vy e g et sece
AEEAG
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| 02/2020

HhR 2 RCFEINE X E 5 | SMARTYEYFT /M i
__T_

New booklet titled “Purchasing Non-local
Properties Be SMART ” published

8 B [52018/19 5 ¥ & 15 Bl B 28 I8 Mercury
Excellence Award 8% 8%

The EAA’s Annual Report 2018/19 was
granted Honours in the Mercury Excellence
Award

MERCURY

EXCELLENCE AWARDS
2019 | 2020

Honors

SEE)[EEE Events & Activities

g 03/2020

EERBERAELERTEARRAFBE &
RIRINEEZTFISMART]

The EAA's first online seminar titled “Purchasing
Non-local Properties Be SMART” held

B
 }

' 4

£ 7 sinart

EEREBNFEREBREIREARIAL
=3
The EAA continued to be awarded as the
Manpower Developer by the Employees
Retraining Board for the fifth consecutive
year
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Special Subsidy from the EAA and the Government

Special Subsidy from the EAA and the
Government

Background of the EAA Subsidy

In order to assist the licensees in developing and maintaining
their professional service standard under the difficult operating
environment in 2019/20, after discussed with and supported by
major trade association representatives and approved by the
EAA Board, the EAA announced to offer a one-off professional
development subsidy of $500 (herein referred to as “the EAA
Subsidy”) on 23 January 2020 to the holders of a valid estate
agent’s licence (individual) or salesperson’s licence.

Eligibility and distribution of the EAA Subsidy

The EAA Subsidy is granted to each individual licensee
holding a valid licence as aforesaid as at 31 March 2020; and
each individual who has submitted an application for such a
licence on or before 31 March 2020.

To simplify and speed up the process of disbursement,
licensees were not required to submit any application for the
EAA Subsidy. The EAA Subsidy would be released to eligible
individual licensees by cashier’s order payable to them and
delivered to their registered addresses through ordinary mail
by batches starting from April 2020. The disbursement of the
EAA Subsidy is expected to complete in the third quarter of
2020.

The Government Subsidy in progress

To provide financial support to individual licensees in the
estate agency trade in view of the adverse impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on their estate agency practices, the
Government also announced on 8 April 2020 to provide a
one-off cash subsidy (herein referred to as “the Government
Subsidy”) to individual licensees of the estate agency trade
through the EAA under the second round of the Government’s
Anti-epidemic Fund.

The amount of the Government Subsidy is equal to 24-month
licence fee for respective licences, which is HK$2,510 for a
salesperson’s licence and HK$3,930 for an estate agent’s
licence (individual). The Government Subsidy is provided to
each individual licensee holding a valid estate agent’s licence
(individual) or salesperson’s licence on 8 April 2020 and to
each individual who has submitted an application for such a
licence on or before 8 April 2020.



EERNBALA THRERIEB) Special Subsidy from the EAA and the Government
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Upon the eligibility criteria set out by the Government and
announced on 11 May 2020, the EAA has done its utmost to
simplify the administrative procedure for the disbursement of
the Government Subsidy. No application for the Government
Subsidy by the eligible licensees is required, and it will be
disbursed to them by bank cashier’s orders through ordinary
mail starting from late May 2020.
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Advances in Gatekeeping

RAEREER Advances in Gatekeeping

ERER Qualifying Examinations

(e | REPH RPN FBEABEN “Ability” is one of the major qualities that clients expect from
FTEZH - Bt ERIEEE - B our licensees. As a gatekeeper to ensure persons entering
MERRIESHERBITENATEE the trade possess the required knowledge to provide estate
TREEEREITEA S - MERER agency services, a prerequisite for obtaining a licence to
U EMERBITENE D —@LRE practise in the estate agency industry is to pass the relevant
BB EENEREA - EER qualifying examination. Currently, the EAA offers two types
ERiieHmMEERZES - 2581A ()i of qualifying examinations, namely: (i) the Estate Agents
EREERERAL()EEEBHRER - Qualifying Examination (“EAQE”) and (ii) the Salespersons

Qualifying Examination (“SQE”).

R201920 FERTHHERBEREARLEXIERSHANERAOT :
A comparison of the EAQE and SQE held in 2019/20 is as follows:

WwEREERER BxXSERER
EAQE SQE

_— EHlEEEN 6152
EHBK _ i , o,
Number of 435 Paper-based: 6 sessions
_ 4 sessions’ ENEEEN 915°
Sessions g
Computer-based: 9 sessions
Sy e
i?mi*nﬁfﬂon 3 /)N 2 /|\B5 30 HiE
: 3 hours 2 hours 30 minutes
Time
oo F—805D : 30 B A RE 80D 40 B ARE
SEHE . _ .
Number of Part 1: 30 stand-alone questions Part 1: 40 stand-alone questions
Questions FE_FH : 20 IFHE (KB —EMERERSHT) FoHH 10 1ERE (KIE—EMERERZHT)
Part 2: 20 questions based on one or two case studies | Part 2: 10 questions based on one or two case studies
iz ZIRREE
Format Multiple-choice questions
AR BRI TEEH 60%
Pass Mark At least 60% of correct answers in each part

! ER2019ERFEREBENEE - RE ! Due to the development of COVID-19, one EAQE session was
MIARITH —ISMERIEERZ AR cancelled in March 2020.

A e

2 ERTEER R 2019T KRS REED 2 Due to social movements and the development of COVID-19, two
R - [RFIRN 20196 11 A R 202042 A SQE sessions were cancelled in November 2019 and February 2020.
RITHMISE X B EREFWEUH -

° BEERE2019F 7 AT —HEKEZER 3 The EAA launched a pilot scheme of computer-based SQEs (“CBEs”)
AWeEsaREA(EREXZA DA in July 2019. Under the pilot scheme, CBEs are to be held once
175t 8l - ERHAITAHET  BART—R a month (i.e. 12 CBEs each year). Due to the development of
EERZR(BI—FHBR 125 FIEE COVID-19, two CBE sessions were cancelled in February and March
RNER) o ER2019BRASHEBHE 2020.

B - RETR 20204 2 B 123 A 17RO M 15
B E S B -
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fE2019/20F & - HEHMENREERZE
HAWAEAEA376 N RELEB LR
EANAEAAE5412 A WE DRI
EERAD 4 28.6% 5 29.2% o

H2018/19F E ML BEREZ i E
REEBZANAER D H29.4% %
3,866 A - MEZEEXBEEREANAHK
B A #730.1% &= 4,729 A o

f£2019/20F 8 - HERBERZER K
EXBERZANEHLEREL B A
25% }.30.8% - f12018/19 € & M @ &
HAAEEAAE23.8% N 29.5% °

I2FHE R HE Advances in Gatekeeping

A candidate who passes the EAQE may apply for either an
estate agent’s licence (individual) or a salesperson’s licence. A
candidate who passes the SQE can apply for a salesperson’s
licence only.

The qualifying examinations are administered by the Institute
of Professional Education And Knowledge (“PEAK”) of the
Vocational Training Council (“VTC”) on behalf of the EAA in
2019/20.

The qualifying examinations comprise two parts — one
consisting of stand-alone questions and the other consisting of
questions on case studies. Candidates must pass both parts in
order to pass the examination.

Part 1 of the examination is intended to test candidates’
knowledge of various parts of the syllabi of the EAQE and
SQE, including the laws and practices applicable to the estate
agency practice, while Part 2 is intended to test candidates’
ability to apply the knowledge to practical scenarios.

EERBRMEREAUNEEBALES EFHEREMERE RS
AR 03 o

Qualifying examinations are organised to assess whether
persons possess the requisite knowledge to provide estate
agency services.

Number of registrants and candidates for qualifying
examinations

A total of 4,376 persons registered for the EAQE and 5,412
persons registered for the SQE in 2019/20, representing a
decrease of about 28.6% and a decrease of about 29.2%
respectively over those of the previous year.

Compared to that in 2018/19, the number of examination
candidates that actually took the EAQE decreased by about
29.4% to 3,866 and in the case of the SQE it decreased by
about 30.1% to 4,729.

In 2019/20, the average pass rate for the EAQE and SQE were

25% and 30.8% respectively, as against 23.8% and 29.5%
respectively in 2018/19.
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Estate Agents Qualifying Examination
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Advances in Gatekeeping

EXBEERER

Salespersons Qualifying Examination
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=Y] Number of examination candidates (v) Pass rate

BEEZLBRE

fE2019/20F E - EEE X B ERKER
MmEES  BEEARENUA EE2BEMNL X
HHBE3N2% EREEHWERBERE
2 BEAESINLEFENE L R
H 5 46%  M2018/19F E ML R A5
B A33% K 48% o —fRKRF - BEES
MEEMEDNNKELEFERRENE £
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Educational background of candidates

In 2019/20, the percentage of candidates who took the SQE
and who have attained tertiary or above educational level
was about 32%, and that for the EAQE was about 46%, as
compared to 33% and 48% respectively in 2018/19. Generally,
candidates with higher educational qualifications scored
higher marks than those candidates with lower educational
qualifications.



RFHEREHEE Advances in Gatekeeping

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

25 EEEL EEEL EEEL
E d:;;ion b= BRR t & BRER t & BR
Level % of Pass rate % of Pass rate % of Pass rate
candidates candidates candidates
il
EES 26.7% 22.9% 27.5% 18.5% 26.8% 16.2%
q:e\mg;c 8.1% 24.5% 8.0% 19.0% 8.2% 22.7%
o EE IR DI
AtaEH AR
EAQE Tertiary or 46.8% 31.2% 47.5% 26.9% 45.7% 62.1%
above
iﬂljl_ji 18.4% 28.0% 17.0% 25.9% 19.3% 24.5%
Tl:_;ﬁ 36.8% 32.2% 35.6% 25.5% 35.9% 27.3%
FANEIE 16.1% 31.3% 15.8% 24.0% 15.2% 22.6%
e = F6 or F7
ARER | xmss e
SQE Tertiary or 30.4% 45.3% 33.1% 36.2% 32.3% 76.4%
above
Unknown
BRI 16.7% 37.4% 15.5% 29.9% 16.6% 33.7%
WEALTHBEES Occupational background of registrants
MEBREASANATER A EAL MK Persons registered for the qualifying examinations included
BERTSENAT  BEEE LRIEE - students and people from a wide range of occupational
MEEIE - RT - LEE -BXRZ backgrounds, including the retail and wholesale business,
MERERNMZELE 43% ° property management, banking, accounting, and investment.

About 43% of the candidates attempted the examination for
the first time.
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wEREERER
Estate Agents Qualifying Examination

I EE R I2 % Estate agency trade
R1TEE WA

Banking / accounting / investment

TEHH

Retail / wholesale business

)2 E 2 Property management
72%E /A& Construction / surveying
R Insurance

24 Students

HE /e RE

Education / social service
SBJE B8R Hotel / catering
B Unknown

H A Others

BEISEREA
Salespersons Qualifying Examination

TE P

Retail / wholesale business

¥ % & 1B Property management
24 Students

RT,/ g E

Banking / accounting / investment
SEIE B8R Hotel / catering
{RB& Insurance

HE RS

Education / social service

758 /381 & Construction / surveying

BB 2L %E Salesperson-trainee
ERNEE Unknown
HHb Others
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Number of attempts by candidates at examinations

wERBEEREZA

Estate Agents Qualifying Examination

EXEERER
Salespersons Qualifying Examination

50% 50%
= =X
40% =y 40% =Y
2 e
) ©
0 <
30% 30%
20% = 20% —=v =5
=x — =X =v
=v =x =v =v =v
-_— Ev E.); — B
8 0 = & ® =x
) o g — =v
10% 3 % & 10% < N ==
£ N &
B ©
B
0% 0%
=y| gxE=z =y| ke =y| E= ks bEE =y| EBAFE
=v| First attempt =v] Second attempt =Y| Third attempt or above =Y| Unknown

BRREHERRELSKEEESXZ
&

H2019F4 MG MBEEERMNE
REATHBXIRBRIEEERRE
o EXBEREARMERNEERS
ABRHEARERLA -

A REH#Z -—EEEREETE
T EERREXBEREAEL — @
B EERAWATEE - 52019
FTAUNKR BEERBRAOER—HE
fEERANEXBEREDN (20204 2
A K3 AR

FEREREH BHEKZHTER KA

R 2019F 11 A W4t & & 8) & 2019
BRASHEBNEE  EERAELE
MEEABNAGLZER SREEAEE
2 R2019/20F EHUE T — it ER
BERED WMEEFAEZEANEE
BERES  EWMBSEMESEANE
¥885KEHR - LHATERBUENER
B P -

Change of service provider and launch of computer-
based examinations

With effect from April 2019, all the EAA’s qualifying
examinations are administered by PEAK of the VTC. Both the
SQE and the EAQE are available in paper-based format.

In order to provide another option and flexibility for candidates,
the EAA has launched a new pilot scheme of computer-based
examination (“CBE”) for the SQE. Since July 2019, there has
been one CBE for the SQE every month except for February
and March 2020.

Cancellation and Re-schedule of Qualifying Examinations
Due to Unexpected Events

Due to social movements in November 2019, the development
of COVID-19, and having regard for the personal safety and/or
health of the candidates and examination personnel attending
the examinations, the EAA cancelled one EAQE, two paper-
based SQEs and two computer-based SQEs in 2019/20 and all
of them have been re-scheduled.
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Advances in Gatekeeping

Licensing

Licensing Regime

Subject to certain exceptions as stipulated in the EAO and
its subsidiary legislation, any person who carries on estate
agency work in Hong Kong must hold a valid licence. Failure
to do so is an offence.

Under the licensing regime, there are two types of licences,
namely, salesperson’s licence and estate agent’s licence. A
salesperson’s licence may only be granted to an individual
while an estate agent’s licence may be granted either to an
individual or a company.

An individual holding a salesperson’s licence may only perform
estate agency work for a licensed estate agent, whereas an
estate agent’s licence holder may perform estate agency
work either for a licensed estate agent or in his capacity as
a sole proprietor, a partner of a partnership, or a director of
a company holding an estate agent’s licence. He may also
be appointed as a manager of an office of an estate agency
business responsible for its effective and separate control’.

Before operating an estate agency business at a particular
place of business using a particular business name, an estate
agent is required to apply for a statement of particulars of
business (“SPOB”).

To be granted an estate agent's licence or a salesperson’s
licence, an individual must fulfill the following requirements:

° having attained the age of 18 years;

° having completed an educational level of Form Five of
secondary education or its equivalent;

o having passed the relevant qualifying examination®; and

° having been considered by the EAA a “fit and proper”
person.

Section 38 of the EAO requires each office of an estate agency
business to be under the effective and separate control of a manager
who must be a holder of an estate agent’s licence (individual).

The qualifying examination must have been passed within 12 months
immediately before the date of an application for the grant of a
licence.
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Licensing Figures

In the year of 2019/20, the total number of individual licences
dropped slightly as compared with that of last year. As
at 31 March 2020, there were 39,358 individual licences,
representing a decrease of 1.3% over that of the previous
year. Among these licences, 21,237 were salesperson’s
licences and 18,121 were estate agent’s licences (individual).

The number of company licences and SPOBs also decreased,
respectively to 3,802 and 6,952, representing a decrease of
0.1% and 1.8% over those of 31 March 2019.

In 2019/20, 2,150 new individual licences were granted, a
decrease of 22.9% compared to that of the last year.

1E2019/204F F » =B R AL 2,150 EF HENEAER - &
LTFERD22.9% -

In 2019/20, 2,150 new individual licences were granted, a
decrease of 22.9% compared to that of the last year.
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—WNBEfE - 2019/20F E R Z & E R As usual, most of the estate agencies operated in 2019/20
BERNEABENKLEE - BIE 202053 were small scale operators. As at 31 March 2020, 95.1% of
A31H 95 1% M &EHEARAKR—ME agency operators operated as a single shop and less than 1%
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DPRA1% °

Estate Agents Authority Annual Report 2019/20

81



VAR k=D

Advances in Gatekeeping

REXBNEEEREN(BE202053 A31H)
Mode of Operation of Estate Agency Businesses (as at 31/3/2020)
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Failure to Meet the Licensing Requirements

A licence applicant must have fulfilled certain requirements
in order to be granted a licence. If a licence applicant
fails to meet any of the licensing requirements, his/her
licence application will be refused. In 2019/20, a total of
105 applications were refused for different reasons, such
as applicants were considered not having the required
educational qualifications or not being considered “fit and
proper” persons to be granted a licence (e.g. bankruptcy or
conviction of a criminal offence).

Even if a licence has been granted, a licensee’s licence may
be revoked if he/she is no longer eligible to continue to hold a
licence. During the year, a total of 57 licences were revoked
by the Licensing Committee as the relevant licensees no
longer met the licensing requirements.
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Actions Taken Against Licensees by the Licensing Committee
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Online Renewal of Licence Application

Individual licensees who have registered an e-Service account
at the EAA’s website may submit their licence renewal
applications online. During the year, among the 28,673 renewal
applications received from individual licensees, 37.4% (i.e.
10,710 renewal applications) were submitted online.

In 2020/21, online submission of licence applications will be
extended to former licensees who would like to apply for the
re-grant of an individual licence within 24 months from the
date on which the licence ceased to be valid.

Scheme on Mutual Recognition of Professional
Qualifications of Estate Agents in the Mainland and
Hong Kong

With a view to boosting professional exchanges between
estate agency practitioners in the Mainland and Hong Kong
and the long-term development of the trade of both sides, the
EAA and the China Institute of Real Estate Appraisers and
Agents (“CIREA”) signed a five-year agreement on 3 November
2010 to launch a mutual recognition scheme for estate agents
in the Mainland and Hong Kong. The agreement was renewed
for another five years in 2017.

Under the provisions of the agreement, both sides will
each nominate a certain number of qualified estate agents
to participate in a specially-designed training course and
examination organised by the other party within the five-year
agreement period. Upon completion of the said course and
successfully passing the examination, the nominees could
apply for the CIREA registration certificate or the EAA licence.

The first and second training courses and examinations of
the scheme were held in July 2011 and December 2017
respectively. A total of 363 attendees from Hong Kong and 94
from the Mainland passed the examinations and were eligible
to apply for the qualification of the other party. Among these
457 participants, 338 Hong Kong and 65 Mainland attendees
applied for and were granted the qualification of the other
party under the scheme.

As at 31 March 2020, 214 Hong Kong estate agents held a
registration certificate issued by the CIREA and 11 Mainland
estate agents held an estate agent’s licence issued by the
EAA under the scheme.

The EAA will continue to liaise with the CIREA for the
arrangement of the next round of nomination.
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Proactive in Law Enforcement

Combatting Money Laundering and
Terrorist Financing Risks in Property
Transactions

Implementation of the Ordinance and EAA’s practice
circular

On 1 March 2018, the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing (Financial Institutions) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2018 (“AMLQ”") took effect. Under the AMLO,
the statutory customer due diligence and record keeping
requirements in relation to anti-money laundering (“AML”")
and counter-terrorist financing (“CTF”) have been extended
from financial institutions to cover also estate agents together
with some other designated non-financial businesses and
professions. At the same time, the EAA has been designated
as the relevant authority for monitoring and supervising estate
agents’ AML/CTF compliance.

As such, the EAA issued a practice circular earlier which
sets out AML/CTF guidelines for the estate agency sector.
To raise the trade’s awareness and facilitate practitioners’
compliance with their statutory obligations and the EAA’s
guidelines, subsequent to the issuance of the practice circular,
the EAA implemented a number of outreaching initiatives in
2018/19, namely development of an AML Corner in its website
for licensees’ easy access to AML/CTF related information;
distribution of an educational kit to all estate agency shops to
assist licensees in highlighting to their clients the importance
of AML/CTF compliance; production of an e-leaflet which
helped licensees explain to their clients their statutory
obligations; and conducting numerous CPD activities to equip
licensees with necessary knowledge of the relevant legal and
regulatory requirements.

Having been designated as the regulatory body under the
AMLO for supervising estate agents’ AML/CTF compliance, the
EAA at the same time increased the frequency and intensity of
inspections, in the forms of both on-site shop visits and off-site
monitoring, to assess the trade’s compliance with the AML/CTF
requirements.

Enforcement and educational measures

Further to its AML/CTF outreaching and supervision efforts in
2018/19, the EAA conducted an intensive study in 2019/20
on the estate agency operators’ threats and vulnerability to
money laundering and terrorist financing risks at institutional
level. Through this study, the EAA updated its risk profiling
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and classification of individual estate agency operators. Based
on the findings derived from the study, the EAA also refined
its AML/CTF enforcement strategies to reinforce its risk-based
supervision approach which would be deployed in a more
effective way to supervise and monitor the estate agents’
proper compliance with the AML/CTF requirements.

Alongside with its risk-based enforcement and supervision on
the trade’s AML/CTF compliance, the EAA has been continuing
its educational and outreaching efforts to enhance the trade’s
familiarity with the relevant AML/CTF requirements. New
Continuing Professional Development (“CPD”) activities were
developed and delivered to deepen licensees’ understanding
of some key areas, such as the differentiation between
beneficial ownership and legal ownership, the proper ways to
comply with the statutory requirements of record-keeping and
the higher risks involved in relation to domestic and foreign
Politically Exposed Persons. In addition, a new chapter was
created in Horizons, the EAA’s quarterly magazine, to provide
extra-means for licensees to keep abreast of the latest issues
in relation to the AML/CTF.

Continuous efforts following the Mutual Evaluation with
FATF

In 2018, representatives of the Financial Action Task Force
(“FATF”), an inter-governmental body that sets international
standards on combating money laundering and terrorist
financing, conducted a review (known as the Mutual
Evaluation) on the effectiveness of Hong Kong’'s AML/CTF
measures. Both the EAA and the trade had made extra efforts
to prepare for the Mutual Evaluation and it was encouraging
that Hong Kong's AML/CTF regime was assessed to be
compliant and effective overall.

Subsequent to the Mutual Evaluation, the EAA has placed
its emphasis on improving its risk-based enforcement and
supervision strategies as well as further expanding the AML/
CTF outreach amongst the licensees.

The EAA has dedicated additional manpower and resources to
strengthen its risk-based supervision on AML/CTF compliance.
Operators would be asked to submit regular AML/CTF status
updates for the EAA’s continuous monitoring. The intensity of
supervision and frequency of inspections by the EAA would
be based on the level of threats and vulnerability of the estate
agency operators. More stringent policies and measures will
be adopted to mitigate the money laundering and terrorist
financing risks of those estate agencies which are assessed to
be exposed to a higher level of such risks.
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Proactive in Law Enforcement

With a view to expanding the AML/CTF outreach amongst the
licensees, the EAA is planning on new initiatives to recognise
the licensees’ contributions to promote AML/CTF. New
initiatives to deepen the collaboration with and to recognise
the contributions of estate agency firms to promote AML/CTF
would be derived. The ultimate goal is to build and maintain
a culture and business environment among the estate agency
trade to proactively combat money laundering and terrorist
financing.

As AML/CTF is a continuing mission that both the EAA and
the trade have to fulfil, the EAA will spare no effort to ensure
licensees’ understanding of and compliance with the AML/CTF
requirements.

Ethics and Regulations

The EAO and practice circulars

The EAA established under the Estate Agents Ordinance
("EAQ”") is tasked to, inter alia, regulate and control the
practice of estate agents and salespersons and to take such
actions as the EAA considers appropriate or necessary to
promote integrity and competence amongst, or maintain or
enhance the status of, estate agents and salespersons. Estate
agents and salespersons must observe and comply with all the
relevant provisions in the EAO and its subsidiary legislation,
the Code of Ethics and all the applicable guidelines set out in
the practice circulars issued by the EAA when they carry out
estate agency work.

Introduction of regulations

The EAA reviews the practices of the trade and issues practice
circulars to provide guidelines and directives on estate agency
practice from time to time, to enable licensees to comply with
their duties under the law.

As the guidelines set out in existing practice circulars were
sufficient to cover issues that arose in 2019/2020, no new
practice circular was developed and issued by the EAA during
the year.

Issuance of letters to licensees

With a view to reminding licensees on the requirements of
the relevant laws and regulations when carrying out estate
agency work and to draw their attention to the updates on
certain Government measures and/or documentation which
may be relevant to their practices, the EAA issued five letters
to licensees during the year.
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In light of the concerns with regard to licensees promoting the
sale of first-hand residential units offered by developers to be
sold by way of tender, the EAA issued a letter to licensees
to remind them to strictly comply with the EAO, the Code
of Ethics and all applicable guidelines issued by the EAA
and abide by the Residential Properties (First-hand Sales)
Ordinance at all times regardless of the method of sales
adopted by developers for selling their properties.

In response to the amendments to the Mortgage Insurance
Programme of the Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Insurance
Limited and the revisions of documentation under the Home
Ownership Scheme Secondary Market Scheme and the Flat-
for-Sale Secondary Market Scheme, the EAA issued letters to
remind licensees to keep abreast of the latest requirements
and not to provide any inaccurate or misleading information to
prospective purchasers.

In addition, the EAA issued a letter to licensees, in particular
those who were involved in the sale of non-local properties, to
draw their attention to the conditions of stay of non-Hong Kong
permanent residents who come to Hong Kong and participate
in the sales activities of non-local properties.

The EAA will continue to issue practice circulars and letters
to licensees to provide the trade with guidelines and raise its
awareness of current issues with respect to estate agency
practice as and when necessary.

Complaints and Inspections

Complaints and enquiries handling

In 2019/20, the EAA received 268 complaints, a decrease of
8% from 291 complaints in 2018/19. Key allegations of the 268
complaints included mishandling the provisional agreement
for sale and purchase (or the provisional tenancy agreement),
issuing non-compliant advertisements and providing inaccurate
or misleading property information. Among the 268 complaints,
the complaints concerning the sale of first-hand residential
properties had increased from 49 cases in 2018/19 to 55 cases
in 2019/20 with key allegations of failing to honour rebate
promises, issuing non-compliant advertisements and provision
of misleading mortgage information.
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e in Law Enforcement

The issue of Practice Circular 18-02 (CR) on property
advertisements in the last quarter of 2018 had alerted
the public and also the estate agency trade’s attention to
property advertisements, leading to an increase in complaints
about non-compliant advertisements. Non-compliance with
the guidelines set out in that Circular, namely failing to
state in advertisements the property numbers assigned
to the properties advertised and the dates on which the
advertisements are issued or updated, is the most common
allegation. As online advertisements have now become more
popular, 60% of the advertisement complaints related to online
advertisements. Cyber patrols were stepped up in the year to
monitor online advertisements.

In addition to complaints, the EAA also received 5,573
enquiries on estate agency practices in 2019/20, and in
response to those enquiries, the EAA took follow-up actions on
1,434 enquiries.

EE RN 2019/20 & 2 268 RIFHF - 8 2018/19FEH)
291 R AT 8% ©

In 2019/20, the EAA received 268 complaints, a decrease of
8% from 291 complaints in 2018/19.

440 333 264

Some cases completed in a year were brought forward from previous
years. The figures include prima facie cases referred to and dealt
with by the Disciplinary Committee and non-prima facie cases
disposed of by the Complaints and Enforcement Sections.
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EXHNERLE R * Results of Cases Completed* 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

FEFEAL® Substantiated *

AL Unsubstantiated

BERARE Insufficient information to pursue
Hh* Others”

#BE Total

* FATKNERBS REFEENRESE -
EREREREEBEKNIITEN TLAEE
SREHER AR BRFERITEEE
I8 () 2R B RS A EE -

c mERTFASREMN-BEBESER
[$ERERSL | - % B ek R AR & 1%
SRR EEKIL] -

! BEMERE - BUEKRFEE M RE
RILHEWEZRE -

KERHAE

2019/20F E » EE R — WA E R E
RIBEKHE N —FEEERHEE M
HEITKETE- B2018F & —@ZF
B EERNEEMERER—FEE
EREEMMNKFEEREBRS (RN
18-02(CR) & 18-03(CR)) & © &7 N4
FERAIESIMEEATTE)  LWERERNE
BB - Emémﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ&—iﬁ

TERHEEWHMBE  RTUADEES
&iﬁ%&ﬁLﬁ}&é@l\' EERINR K

RERFEATEZELEN EMDFNEE
RS - AERXBLEEEBRIRT
t%%ﬁbﬂﬁiﬁtﬂiﬁi%% EE¥a-
WHEBEERPE EESAALRERK
E’U%%EESEP

AEHEEFH R 2019EBRFSHEBEE
T BEEHELN—FEEWERRIE
BEMEL - BENL  BEERINES
TEHRNBBRFERANBES EHER
FHMF o @ﬁg%ﬂmm¢7ﬂﬁ@
WMEREEII Y FEEWEHRE

% BECAEGEERREER: ;z 7
ZUANEHMERBR —FEEMEN

BB REEA - A RENE M H
HEKF 2ENEREBARERHEE

HERHEBEENHEERE  UYEREMS
RAFHE - B BB - TEXRN
TANMEREAR KIEHEE THRIEK
BHEE  BAEIHMABRBNENEERE
PABERF O o

131 106

187 146 123
33 22 17
89 59 49

440 333 264

*

Some cases completed in a year were brought forward from previous
years. The figures include prima facie cases referred to and dealt
with by the Disciplinary Committee and non-prima facie cases
disposed of by the Complaints and Enforcement Sections.

A completed case will be classified as “Substantiated” if any of the
allegations involved therein has been concluded as “Substantiated”.

Include cases which were curtailed, withdrawn or closed due to other
reasons.

Compliance inspections and investigations

In 2019/2020, the EAA continued to maintain its enforcement
effort on places of estate agency business and promotion sites
of first-hand residential property developments. Since the issue
of Practice Circular 18-02 (CR) on property advertisements
and Practice Circular 18-03 (CR) on the order at first-sale sites
of residential properties in the last quarter of 2018, actions
have been stepped up to monitor the compliance with the new
guidelines. During our visits to the agency shops and the first-
sale sites, other than conducting compliance inspections on
the property advertisements and the sales order, we also take
those opportunities to remind the licensees to observe and
comply with the guidelines of the two newly issued circulars.
As online advertisements had become more popular, more
efforts had been put on cyber patrols to the online portals.
Monitoring online advertisements will continue to be one of the
main foci of our enforcement duties.

Fewer first-hand residential development projects were
launched into the market amid the social movements and the
COVID-19 pandemic in the year. Notwithstanding, the EAA
continued to spare no effort to ensure that the licensees’
sales activities at first-sale sites were in good order. Since the
Charter on the Sales of First-hand Residential Properties of
Property Developers was launched in July 2018, 35 property
developers have signed the Charter with a view to improving
the sales order of estate agents at the sale-sites and show
flats of first-hand residential properties and their nearby
vicinity. Participating developers pledge to provide consumers
with a desirable sales environment and will take strong
punitive actions against the estate agency companies and
their employees involved in any unruly, impolite, harassing,
improper or violent behaviours. The EAA welcomes other
developers which have not yet signed the Charter to join us at
any time.
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Compliance Inspections

KERE

Number of Inspections
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2017/18
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2018/19

Proactive in Law Enforcement

In an ever-changing environment, the EAA will continue to
review and refine its enforcement strategies to enhance the
effectiveness of its regulatory functions to safeguard public
interest.

During the year, the EAA conducted 727 compliance
inspections at first-sale sites, 1,121 compliance inspections at
agency shops and 666 compliance inspections for anti-money
laundering and counter-terrorist financing requirements. Some
689 spot checks on online advertisements and 412 on online
property portals were also carried out during the period.

T REAS §YE 1 Bh

“Q Flrst sale sites™

ERIEEES
Q Agency shops

AM L/CTF mspecnons

2019/20

* Includes development sites, sales offices and vicinity areas.

MEENKENBE  EERAMAYT
154REARETRERE EPEI7TR
EREAS R —FEBHNKE 56 R
BEmERIERES 36 RAIAMER
HEWMEMER  EHREARSREMMES -

HEMREBEER 2019/20 F3k

Subsequent to inspections and spot checks, 154 enforcement
cases were opened, including 17 cases arising from first-
sale inspections, 56 from estate agency shop visits, 36 cases
from online and newspaper patrols, and the rest are of a
miscellaneous nature.
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Enforcement Cases

FER 2 B # 5% Proactive in Law Enforcement

{@%2 8 B Number of Cases 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

32 A fEZE Opened
B 5 AY{EZ * Completed*

* FRTRNERLDI BLFREOESR -
& W@%%@E%Tﬁﬁkilﬁm THRZER
SREHNER  ARBIRFHARITDIHE
T2 )R FE BRI E S -

HYROEERFHERBARREME
BEMNFEA BRAFANAE

FEHFEREERER  MEELERSK
REMNERANEHRERIREED
BR - 9BEE - F£2019/20F ¥ » &
BRHAET 106 RIS MARFERLE
WY 1 h R PR 2 B Bl B A R R S A Y M
o FR - ﬁ*“%ﬁﬁzﬁiu T 545RA]
SEEZ - DAETTHIEHE -

77 120 115

* Some cases completed in a year were brought forward from previous
years. The figures include prima facie cases referred to and dealt
with by the Disciplinary Committee and non-prima facie cases
disposed of by the Complaints and Enforcement Sections.

Investigations into licensees/licence applicants
suspected of making false statements or furnishing
false information to the EAA

It is an offence to make a false or misleading statement
or furnish false or misleading information when making
applications for the grant or renewal of licences. In 2019/20,
investigations were conducted into 106 licence applications
in which the applicants were suspected of making false
statements or furnishing false information in their licence
application or licence renewal process. In the year, the
EAA referred 54 suspicious cases to the Police for criminal
investigations.

{@Z 2B Number of Cases 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

FZ A EZ Opened
B ek #9{EZ * Completed*

* FATKOBERBY REFEENER -

RETH

ALEWTER

WEEERITRAHBIERBETAF
AR B ETOEERBIEPID R, E

MEBED SR ERBAIMEERH
MEIR - BOR BB ST NN E R EeE

MEEGEH  THRERETRLEEZE
CREZHM  WATRE A B EZRE
TTHER ©

37 50 63

*

Some cases completed in a year were brought forward from previous
years.

Disciplinary Actions

Inquiry hearings

If the Chief Executive Officer (*CEQ”) of the EAA has reasons
to believe that a licensee has failed to comply with the EAO
and/or its subsidiary legislation; or is not eligible to hold or
continue to hold a licence; or has failed to comply with a
specified condition attached to his licence, the CEO shall make
a submission to the Disciplinary Committee for consideration if
an inquiry hearing should be conducted.
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Proactive in Law Enforcement

The Disciplinary Committee, a standing committee established
under the EAO, receives, considers and conducts inquiries into
complaints and submissions by the CEO. If the Disciplinary
Committee, after conducting an inquiry hearing, is satisfied that
the complaint or submission is well-founded, it may exercise
disciplinary powers including admonishing or reprimanding
the licensee concerned, attaching/varying specified conditions
attached to his licence, suspending/revoking his licence,
imposing a fine and making a costs order.

In 2019/20, the Disciplinary Committee adjudicated 129 cases,
of which 119 were substantiated (i.e. 92.2%). As a result, a
total of 123 licensees were disciplined, among whom 80 were
individual licensees' and 43 company licensees.

During the same period, 14 licences were suspended for periods
ranging from 14 days to six weeks. Licensees disciplined were
found to have been engaged in unprofessional conduct such as
making misrepresentations, failing to protect and promote the
interests of their clients, or failing to exercise due care and due
diligence in fulfilling their duties.

A total of 98 licensees were fined, with the fines ranging from
$1,000 to $150,000.

B EmAmE R o
A staged inquiry hearing.

! BREBERBARANBELEE AF
Ao

HEMREBEER 2019/20 F3k

! Including sole-proprietors and partners of estate agency firms.
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Publication of reasons for the decisions of inquiry
hearings

Prior to 1 January 2020, the EAA published inquiry hearing
results of the last two years on its website. With effect from
January 2020, the inquiry hearing results adjudicated on or
after 1 January 2020 would be provided for search on the
EAA’s webpage titled “Recent Inquiry Hearing Results” for
three years.

As well as inquiry hearing results, the EAA also publishes
the reasons for disciplinary decisions on its website. Not only
does such publication enhance the transparency of the EAA’s
work but also enables the estate agency trade to have a better
understanding of the EAA’s disciplinary decisions, as well as
equips the estate agency trade with valuable learning on how
to comply with the EAO and reduces the risks of similar non-
compliances in future. In the long run, it will make a substantial
contribution to improving the professional standard of the
trade.

On the other hand, publication of the reasons for disciplinary
decisions provides a way for the public to understand the
EAA’s disciplinary decisions, and enables them to make
informed choices when engaging the services of licensees.

From January 2020, a new webpage titled “Reasons for
Decisions of Past Inquiry Hearing Cases” has been added
which contains all the substantiated full inquiry hearing cases
and their reasons for decisions for a period of five years after
they had been removed from publication on the webpage titled
“Recent Inquiry Hearing Results”.

Number of Inquiry Hearings with Decision Handed Down

250
200 /,’/
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184 \\‘\

@ TR
==. Number of hearings
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2019/20
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ERRE
Number of
Allegations

2019/20 FEF REHREE *

Common Types of Non-compliance in 2019/20*

1. REEMENESNER &AM AR ERT R SE RS I S E A B
Failure to state clearly and legibly in a property advertisement the property number and/or the 20
date on which it was issued or updated

2. REFPREHEBRNVEXRZHER  REEREHTEFPNYEARZEHNERN  ReEME
FREMEFIRHER
Providing wrong property or transaction information to clients; failure to verify the accuracy of 18
property or transaction information provided to clients; failure to supply property or transaction
information to clients

3. BHUERIRGURERSE  KREESFFLAEZERAEMBLRES  BHEREFETNHES
Issuing a false or misleading advertisement; advertising without vendor’s prior written consent; 17
advertising in contravention of vendor’s instruction

4. RRAHGFREESE®R  EAHLGAEKIER (ETAB LLHERBRAGER)
Affixing a poster in public area; obstruction of public place by placing tables, chairs and sun 15
shades on the pedestrian sidewalk

5. RHtIRHEHERT -FREBNEER

Offering/making a loan to a prospective purchaser of a first-hand property

6. RAREEESHRE ([HH]) BRENTOEENTS R SELCHFAREITRL B
BMAZAAREZEEFI RS ARBMELATZER  REBRRARXEZZRHEZHE L/
ERRFFR A, HENRIERRAATEERBAOEIL T EXRE
Failure to ascertain the identity of the landlord under a tenancy agreement (“TA”)/provisional
tenancy agreement (“PTA”) and/or whether the said landlord had the right to lease the property
to the tenant before arranging for the tenant to enter into the TA/PTA; failure to ensure that the
signatory was duly authorised by the party concerned to sign the provisional agreement for
sale and purchase/TA/PTA/estate agency agreement

7. RHRPEERENDGRNERER RS TRNEN LEE
Arranging for client(s) to sign a provisional agreement for sale and purchase/PTA with certain 12
terms of the agreement left blank

8. ARARUHEENEFIGIENEET TBHEINERNESE - e A

REREREER T —FERNEER

TEHE—F R EMEEREER BB F

AFEARBEAGEMIBERBRARNERELEE —FETERNES

- E2EEBWERDREREERMELNEMES

- EREBIEMMENEEXRARE BRETHENERENES R SREBBE T

Failure to exercise effective control on employee(s)/subordinate(s) by establishing proper

procedures or systems to avoid them from:

- offering or making loan to prospective purchasers of first-hand properties 12

- failing to wear Estate Agent card and/or staff card when promoting the sale of first-hand
properties

- issuing advertisements concerning first-hand residential properties in the licensee’s own
capacity instead of in the capacity of an estate agency company

- contravening the guidelines issued by the EAA when engaging in activities pertaining to the
acquisition of flats in old buildings

- putting up advertisements for auction sale and/or notices of auction sale for properties
without the consent/authority of the appointed trustees of the property concerned

12

12

WERIEEER 2019/20F#H
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EBRE
Number of
Allegations

2019/20 FEE BEHEE *

Common Types of Non-compliance in 2019/20*

9. FABTRAERELMNASBEAER SAEMHRTIBE@RE
Failure to give and/or set out in writing the cash rebate as promised to purchasers
10. EESRHEVENEEEBERRFETEERELNES
Failure to comply with the guidelines issued by the EAA when providing the floor area of the 11
property concerned in the advertisement

11

Bo 4 B ERSH LRiB—HERS * There could be more than one type of non-compliances in some
° inquiry hearing cases.

v
a
=~
B

)35 R A SR AT 5 hE A SRV 1T B

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
Actions Taken Against Licensees or Former Licensees*
+ ol A4
ﬁ@@ﬁ’]%ﬁﬁ{\jﬁu%ﬁﬁ/\/\g ‘ . 359 180 534
Number of licensees or former licensees involved
TEiEE
Type of actions'
HlE e =
bl . 233 183 123
Admonishment/reprimand
= =,
o 168 129 98
Fine
R _E B 0 gt 2
ERRLHIEE - . o
Attachment of conditions to licence
i S R AR
= T%fﬁhﬁ . 31 24 14
Suspension of licence
MR " - -
Revocation of licence
* A BT8R IRBRCGHE R B EH DRI * These actions were taken pursuant to powers under the EAO. Some
TEE B FIR - 2R EIH AT NE N L actions may be disciplinary in nature and others not. Some cases
ME - BMEEFRAAESHHEZR - were carried over from previous years.
! B ERY  SHE —FERAXFIFE ! In some cases more than one action was imposed on the same
AFEGER IR —IETTE) © licensee or former licensee.
z EB D GME R BE AR BR BB hD - E A BEIR B 2 Some conditions were attached upon the granting of licences and
hn e others attached thereafter.
o BEERHBHEREZESHT  EAER = These cases were decided by the Licensing Committee on the
AT B EEEE RN - ground that the licensees concerned no longer met the relevant

licensing requirements.
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Forward-looking Approach in Knowledge Dissemination

Professional Development

To meet the growing expectations of consumers and maintain
their competitiveness within the trade, it is important for
estate agency trade practitioners to keep their professional
knowledge up to date so as to carry out their estate agency
work effectively.

With a view to fostering practitioners’ continual personal
advancement and lifelong learning, the EAA launched a
voluntary Continuing Professional Development (“CPD”)
Scheme in 2005. Licensees are encouraged to participate
in learning activities recognised under the CPD Scheme in
order to acquire useful knowledge and practical skills for their
effective practice and personal accomplishment.

The CPD Scheme

Under the CPD Scheme, the subjects of CPD activities
are classified under two categories, namely “Compliance
and Effective Management” and “All-round Advancement”.
Subjects relating to law, compliance or supervisory issues
are categorised as Compliance and Effective Management
subjects, while other subjects conducive to enabling all-
round development and quality enhancement of licensees are
grouped under All-round Advancement.

To facilitate licensees’ CPD participation, the EAA provides
them with CPD activities in different forms, including face-
to-face seminars, e-Learning programmes and e-Quizzes.
In addition to the EAA, educational institutions, estate
agency firms and trade associations are organising learning
activities under the CPD Scheme. Licensees can also choose
to undertake activities offered or accredited by the widely
recognised professional associations of those professions or
areas where the expertise of such fields are complementary to
that of the estate agency trade.

BRMELRBEEYENXERYE |INHEFEEES
BE o

CPD seminar on “Handling Properties Involving
Estate of Deceased Owner or Deed of Gift” held.
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CPD Activities in the Past Three Years

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20

Number of activities and enrolments

During the year, a total of 516 CPD activities were organised
by the EAA and other activity organisers and these CPD
activities attracted 26,002 enrolments. Among the 516
activities, 126 (24.4% of the total number of activities) were
organised by the EAA with 12,722 enrolments (about 48.9% of
total enrolments).

To reduce the risk of the spread of COVID-19 in the
community, the EAA cancelled 12 face-to-face seminars
already scheduled between 1 February and 31 March 2020.
Likewise, other CPD activity organisers conducted fewer CPD
seminars during this period. These decreases in the number of
seminars accounted for certain decreases in CPD enrolments.
A drop of 8,567 enrolments (about 24.8%) of CPD activities
was recorded in 2019/20 as compared with 2018/19.

To fulfil the needs of licensees on continuous learning, rather
than delivering large scale face-to-face seminars, instead, by
allowing sufficient social distancing amongst participants, the
EAA held 12 smaller scale video classes with the number of
seats per class restricted during 1 February to 31 March 2020.

EREE FHBE | SEAX | EBHEA EHHE
Activity Providers No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of
Activities Enrolments Activities Enrolments Activities Enrolments

—— 119 16,021 116 12,954 126 12,722
EAA ' ' '
¥ 3
BERTZRR 366 12,702 403 20,832 376 12,834
Estate Agency Trade
Hofth = s
Other Providers 9 210 20 783 14 446
FEE

494 28,933 539 34,569 516 26,002
Total
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Forward-looking Approach in Knowledge Dissemination
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HBEIERIE Forward-looking Approach in Knowledge Dissemination

Highlights of activities

CPD seminar under the new “Top Tips by Elites” series

With an aim to foster cross-discipline exchanges between
estate agency trade practitioners and professionals of other
sectors as well as ensure a balanced mix of CPD activities to
enrich licensees’ learning experiences, a new series of CPD
seminars titled “Top Tips by Elites” was launched in 2019. To
encourage personal advancement and instil positive thinking
in licensees, Mr Ricky Wong Kwong-yiu (Managing Director,
Wheelock Properties (HK) Limited) and Ms Gilly Wong Fung-
han (Chief Executive, Consumer Council) were invited to share
their stories on “key to success” at the first Top Tips by Elites
seminar held on 17 December 2019. Due to an overwhelming
response from licensees the Top Tips by Elites seminar
attracted a full house of 143 participants and the participants
reflected that the seminar was very inspiring and insightful.

In light of the positive responses from the licensees, the EAA
will continue inviting other distinguished guests to speak at
CPD seminars organised under the Top Tips by Elites series in
future.

CPD Activities on Anti-Money Laundering and Counter
Terrorist Financing

To help licensees fully understand the legal and regulatory
requirements in relation to anti-money laundering (“AML”")
and counter-terrorist financing (“CTF”), 30 CPD activities
on this subject were held by the EAA during the year and
attracted 4,000 enrolments in total. As an expansion of AML/
CTF outreach amongst licensees remains one of the EAA’s
priorities, CPD activities on AML/CTF will be regularly provided
to licensees.

BREREE—EE e BETFEINR
BEEEEHERE -

CPD seminar on “Top Tips by Elites”
held.
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Forward-looking Approach in Knowledge Dissemination

CPD Seminars in Cross Disciplines

In order to broaden licensees’ knowledge and facilitate their
all-round advancement, the EAA from time to time invites
representatives of other regulatory bodies and members of
professional associations of sectors other than estate agency
to deliver CPD seminars on multi-disciplines. Guest speakers
from various regulatory bodies and professional associations
included the Competition Commission; Equal Opportunities
Commission; Independent Commission Against Corruption;
Hong Kong Police Force; Narcotics Division of Security Bureau;
Office of the Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data; Sales
of First-hand Residential Properties Authority; Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants; Hong Kong Green Building
Council; Hong Kong Institute of Construction Managers; Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors; Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation
Limited; and Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. During
the year, 25 CPD activities on subjects of cross disciplines
were held and these activities attracted 1,888 enrolments in
total.

CPD incentives and premium recognitions

Under the CPD Scheme, points would be assigned to CPD
activities based on the nature of the activity and the input
required from the learner. Generally, one CPD point is
awarded for one hour of activity undertaken. Practitioners who
earned 12 or more CPD points in a 12-month CPD period are
considered having achieved the CPD yearly attainment target
and will be awarded the CPD Attainment Symbol. With effect
from the CPD period commencing 1 October 2013, licensees
who have achieved their CPD attainment targets for three
and five consecutive CPD periods will also be awarded the
Premium CPD Attainment Symbol - Silver (“Silver Symbol”)
and Premium CPD Attainment Symbol — Gold (“Gold Symbol”)
respectively.



M EERIE Forward-looking Approach in Knowledge Dissemination

MREAGE ASEREXSEEEHE ST In addition to the CPD Attainment Symbol, the Silver Symbol
ZEBEFRE RELRTEWN 5F and the Gold Symbol which are presented to individual
ELEFSHBEENOHNEREREA licensees, estate agency firms as holders of Statement of
80% s IA FHH IR R B (BIEDITAIE) Particulars of Business (“SPOB”) with over 80% of their
FERZETEINE S ESK - IR0 EE licensed employees (including the branch manager) having

ERERHEREBRTEE -

achieved the yearly CPD attainment target will be awarded the
CPD Mark for Estate Agencies.

2019/20 £E
47 BREHA
Achievement No. of awardees
in 2019/20
i 2 N3 I =3 ALl S, = yaN Sleg *
E 1ﬁ{léﬁ%%zgiu#%%;E}%ﬁﬂ%ﬁ%ﬂE’\J%n EREES TN R e B S
Licensees achieving CPD attainment target for one CPD ; 1,769
. CPD Attainment Symbol
period*
FEE = (AEERREDFER R EETENED EROFHE
A (B 2013 F 10 A 1 BFRBRMEERERBERD P
Licensees achieving CPD attainment target for three Silver Symbol 143
consecutive CPD periods (with effect from the CPD period
commencing 1 October 2013)
FEEDEEERRED BT R EETENED ERNFHE
A (82013 F 10 A 1 BRBBEEREREER) pes
Licensees achieving CPD attainment target for five Gold Symbol 60
consecutive CPD periods (with effect from the CPD period
commencing 1 October 2013)
B 80% oA FFEEE (BREDITAIE) ERRETEER
SHEINE D BERNEXFEHAZSHAA HhEE IR R 4
Holders of SPOB with over 80% of licensed employees EEHEBRTRE 44
(including the branch manager) having achieved the CPD CPD Mark for Estate Agencies
attainment target
* SEKEELEEBRANI12(EE BE * Each CPD period shall be a 12-month period commencing 1 October

FI0A1HEBEBF9HA30HL -

each year and ending on 30 September the following year.
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Forward-looking Approach in Knowledge Dissemination

E-Learning programmes

To enable licensees to study at anytime and anywhere,
the EAA has been producing e-Learning programmes on
various subjects. These e-Learning programmes happened
to serve as a flexible learning option for licensees amid the
social distancing constraints caused by COVID-19. To help
compensate for the loss of learning opportunities resulting from
the cancellations of CPD seminars for reducing the risk of the
spread of COVID-19, more e-Learning programmes have been
produced. During the year, the EAA added five new e-Learning
programmes to its learning platform, as compared with
three new additions in 2018/19. As e-Learning has become
an accepted learning option in society, more e-Learning
programmes on topical subjects will be developed to suit the
interests and learning needs of licensees.

EAA’s e-Learning Programmes in the Past Three Years

EERMLER DA

Number of EAA’s e-Learning programmes

EERBLBR RSN IMARK

Number of participants of EAA's e-Learning programmes

EERMLBREHNZEAR

Number of enrolments of EAA’s e-Learning programmes

NRHBEREAFHENBE

HEBEHE

EERTHERHESREEEEENA
HoUBBEEEREEE S EE - &
2019/20F ' RAHMBEFT BTREF A
MAREREBEAYERINEZEARER
BN - BTEESMEBAR  BAK
ATRENER NS ESEESE

EEE RN 2019 F #H N [5ARIE | S&E5T

g B%?%i‘J%ﬁE’JMﬂZM\ B 2019
FTRRERMWEMRRBAIAABHE

(ARELLO)EEHF#R - BTLEEMR A

RIERBERNEER R BAHE2020F
—FHHTH WO 5ARIE | EE:t
g EHRBIOWER2BTHMNE LS
S EIARE IMES - S5 RBMESE

HEMREBEER 2019/20 F3k

441 635 525

1,943 2,082 2,046

Public Education and Stakeholder
Liaisons

Consumer education

The EAA attaches great importance to promoting consumer
related knowledge to enable consumers to protect their own
interests. In 2019/20, the EAA continued to disseminate
comprehensive and practical information to the public on
property transactions across multiple platforms. In order to
reach the mass public effectively, the EAA adopted various
promotional channels which include both online and offline.

The “5A Agent” publicity campaign launched in 2019 was well
recognised by the trade and has been awarded the education
award by the Association of Real Estate License Law Officials
(*“ARELLQO”) in July 2019. To keep the momentum of promoting
the trade’s professional image to the public, a new wave
of “5A agent” publicity was launched in the first quarter of
2020. The key message was promoted through advertising
on over 100 public bus fleets travelling in the territory. A set
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of eye-catching promotional materials were also produced
and distributed to the estate agency shops. The materials
aimed to encourage the public to appoint licensed estate
agents of high calibre and enhance licensees’ awareness of
being professional at all times. The promotional materials also
included a table tent card carrying an additional message to
facilitate the licensees to obtain a copy of their clients’ identity
document for record-keeping in order to comply with the
requirement of Anti-money Laundering and Counter-terrorist
Financing Ordinance.

mmmt n..';_f = Wy
am e U A
- »J;..-a::e‘. Py Aua
—— wRans EEBN 2020 F EFH T —BM5ANRE ] SHHE - HBHAR
B ean EELBEN SR -
*MMM A new wave of “5A agent” publicity was launched in the first
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quarter of 2020 to encourage the public to appoint licensed estate
agents of high caliber.

In view of the increasing interest of Hong Kong residents
in purchasing non-local properties, the EAA has made a
continuous effort in the year to alert the public on the points-
to-note when purchasing properties situated outside Hong
Kong. For example, a designated section titled “Purchasing
properties located outside Hong Kong” (http://outsideHK.
eaa.org.hk) has been launched under the section of “Smart
Advice” in the EAA’s consumer education website in 2019. The
section consists of a number of articles, leaflets, videos and
useful links related to the purchase of non-local properties for
the public’s reference. In order to attract more members of
the public to access this online information, the EAA adopted
the Search Engine Marketing (SEM) tool to promote this
designated website section in March 2020 which led to a much
higher number of visits to the website section. The number of
pageviews doubled during the promotion period. In addition,
a consumer education booklet titled “Purchasing Non-local
Properties Be SMART” was also published in February 2020.
The booklet introduced the essential factors to be considered
before making a purchase decision of non-local properties
with cases sharing in a user-friendly comic style for easier
understanding.

Estate Agents Authority Annual Report 2019/20

107



108

S A RIHE

7 Lty M FIN EEREFAL
HRT — AR KRR RAAEDEE —
SR YT/ M F - SAINSREFRR A S R
EMFEENHEBEARZIREZROR
Mo REURAMEREENRBEER

bt A/ 9 EDL R AR AT R R B SR
BREBE THNEERBEAT ORR

S—FE G EERRFARBRTMESA
FEE UINRAREWEIZHM
20190 EEREMBAINK
EERkR HEZBW N AMBEE - O
URETRBEXEABHESERI 1504
HROoZEREExXHANANRETRE
YIERBERK 2 B o i E %2020
FH019BRFEREBALREE
i BHKREIN2020F 3 A8T8E
BB INE ¥ BITLSMART ) A5 & & -
BN FE &R R Facebook
BLERT BEGEBRENE=-(EE
ERNEE - ARREHRR - BETERE
R S| T B8 3,000 ) B E - iR E
Wk D BEAIE B AR — A% L

540,000 %8 B - Lt 8 38 FE 45
ERFR BELEEEERMNBAR

YouTube SEBZEARBIE o

Forward-looking Approach in Knowledge Dissemination

As well as the aforementioned booklet, another booklet titled
“Inquiry Hearing Cases — A Selection V” was also produced in
the year to enhance licensees’ understanding of the relevant
legal and regulatory requirements in handling property
transactions through sharing certain real inquiry hearing cases,
in a bid to promote quality service of the estate agency trade.

Printed copies of both booklets were sent to all Home Affairs
Enquiry Centres for the public’s collection.

On the other hand, two public seminars were held during the
year in order to enhance the public’'s knowledge in property
transactions. In September 2019, a seminar titled “Be alert
when renting or purchasing properties with alteration works”
was held. Four speakers from different professions shared with
an audience of around 150 their insight on the possible risks
when renting or purchasing properties with alteration works.
Owing to the spread of COVID-19 in the community in early
2020, the seminar held in March 2020 titled “Purchasing Non-
local Properties Be SMART” was conducted online for the first
time. The online seminar was broadcast through Facebook,
which allowed the online audience to interact with the three
speakers in real time. A positive response was received from
the public. Over 3,000 views were recorded during the live
broadcast of the seminar and the recap video was viewed
40,000 times in the week afterwards. Video highlights of the
seminars were also uploaded to the EAA’s websites and
YouTube channel for the public’s viewing.

TR
Em i E f£ 2
ESTATE AGEN'
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Two public seminars were held during the year in order to enhance the public’s knowledge

in property transactions.

HEMREBEER 2019/20 F3k
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During the year, the EAA management was interviewed
by different media in order to enhance public awareness

on EAA’s initiatives and efforts.
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Media relations

In order to further enhance public awareness of the EAA
with a positive public image, it is important to keep a close
connection with the media in order to publicise the EAA’s
initiatives and efforts. During the year, the EAA issued eight
press releases and held one press conference which gained
wide media coverage. A total of six feature interviews were
arranged for the EAA Chairman and EAA management with
major print and electronic media. Among these interviews, the
EAA Chief Executive Officer, Ms Ruby Hon, was interviewed
by a TVB programme titled “A Property A Day” in December
2019. Ms Hon illustrated the role and responsibility of estate
agents and the points-to-note when appointing estate agents.
There were a few episodes aired with positive response and
the series continued in 2020.

TR O £f 35
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To further promote consumer-related information through mass
media channels, the EAA regularly contributes articles on
current topics relating to property transactions and expected
services of estate agents to the media. In 2019/20, the EAA
contributed a total of 39 articles to three print and online
columns, namely, the property magazine and website of Sing
Tao Daily, the websites of Hong Kong Economic Journal, and
South China Morning Post. The EAA will continue to cultivate
relationships with the media by exploring more media channels
and publicity platforms.
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The EAA understood the daily
practice of licensees by conducting
focus groups, which helped the
EAA formulate practical policies,
guidelines and measures for the
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Trade communications

The EAA believes that it is vital to maintain a good rapport
with key stakeholders and the trade, so as to gain their
understanding and support for the work of the EAA which
is essential for trade compliance and the development of
professionalism. The EAA hosted three regular liaison meetings
and one special meeting on the ways to assist the trade under
operation difficulties with the representatives of major trade
associations in 2019/20 as a regular dialogue and two-way
exchange with the trade. Issues of mutual concern were also
discussed and the trade was informed on the most updated
initiatives of the EAA. For instance, the trade expressed to the
EAA their difficulties during the period of social movements
resulting in a financial assistance plan provided by the EAA to
encourage individual licensees to upgrade themselves through
continuous learning. The EAA also helped reflect the trade’s
difficulties during the COVID-19 pandemic to the Government
which had decided to provide cash subsidies to individual
licensees through the EAA under the second round of the Anti-
epidemic Fund.

EERETIZXAMEARTHETHESE -
trade. The EAA hosted regular liaison meetings with the representatives of major trade
associations.

In addition to liaison meetings with representatives of trade
associations, focus group meetings with licensees in various
districts were also organised to maintain direct dialogue with
frontline practitioners. At these meetings, the EAA invited
licensees to share practice issues they encountered, which
helped the EAA formulate practical policies, guidelines and
measures for the trade. During the year, two focus group
meetings with positive feedback were held in Yau Tong and
Ma On Shan respectively.
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From time to time, the EAA issues letters or reminders to
licensees in the form of email or special notices published on
the EAA’s website to alert them to certain requirements relating
to the estate agency practice, and reminders or new measures
from the Government. In 2019/20, a total of 25 such letters
or notices were issued. In addition, four issues of the EAA’s
newsletter for licensees, Horizons, were published in the year
to keep licensees abreast of the EAA’s regulatory measures
and our latest activities. Members of the public could either
collect a copy of the newsletter at the EAA office or read
the e-version at the EAA’s website. By attending different
trade events in 2019/20, the EAA also maintained a cordial
relationship with the trade.

Exchanges and liaisons with other stakeholders

During the year, the EAA also maintained a good relationship
with external stakeholders, including the Government,
professional institutes and other public bodies. As it is
essential for estate agents to keep informed of relevant
government regulations and new developments in the market,
we also received up-to-date news and information from various
departments or organisations such as the Sales of First-hand
Residential Properties Authority, Inland Revenue Department,
Competition Commission, Land Registry, Planning Department,
Hong Kong Housing Society, Consumer Council, Equal
Opportunities Commission, Office of the Privacy Commissioner
for Personal Data, Property Management Services Authority,
Registration and Electoral Office, and Immigration Department.

The EAA management also met with the former President of the
Association of Real Estate License Law Officials (“ARELLO”")
who is also the chairman of the board of trustees for the
ARELLO Foundation. Information on the property market in
Hong Kong and the number of licensees was exchanged in the
meeting.

EERERN  FEMBNHEMARBBZINAROERFRTHE -BRERE
REMBGRITERRNE -

The EAA maintained a good relationship with external stakeholders, including
the Government, professional institutes and other public bodies. Photo taken at a
meeting with the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.
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Independent Auditor's Report

TO THE MEMBERS OF ESTATE AGENTS AUTHORITY
MERBEER

(established in Hong Kong pursuant to the Estate Agents
Ordinance)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Estate Agents
Authority set out on pages 116 to 152, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the
statement of income and expenditure, statement of movements
in reserve and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of Estate Agents Authority as at
31 March 2020, and of its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Estate
Agents Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of Estate
Agents Authority in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Estate Agents Authority is responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
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B AZERI#R 4 Independent Auditor’s Report

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Estate Agents Authority’s Responsibility
for the Financial Statements

Estate Agents Authority is responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Estate Agents Ordinance, and for such internal control as
Estate Agents Authority determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, Estate Agents Authority
is responsible for assessing its ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless Estate Agents Authority either intends to liquidate Estate
Agents Authority or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Estate Agents Authority is responsible for overseeing its
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with section 12 of the Estate
Agents Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these financial statements.
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“ VR G
Independent Auditor's Report

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Estate
Agents Authority’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by Estate Agents Authority.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of Estate Agents
Authority’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on Estate
Agent Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause Estate Agents Authority to cease
to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.
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B AZERI#R 4 Independent Auditor’s Report

We communicate with Estate Agents Authority regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 July 2020
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W EEx Statement of Income and Expenditure
HE2020F3A31HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2020
2020 2019
M 5 BT ETT
NOTES HK$ HK$
WA Income
fRRE Licence fees 5 81,175,857 80,971,414
ERE Examination fees 6 6,477,400 9,111,200
B U A Interest income 3,723,431 2,780,858
91,376,688 92,863,472
i Expenditure
ZEE & Auditor’s remuneration 102,000 102,000
NBEBERT Community education expenses 1,600,157 1,796,598
FEF - PERLEEPRD Complaints, investigation and
] disciplinary proceedings expenses 119,787 120,555
ME - MERRBEIITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 9 4,457,269 4,998,076
FREEEZTE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 10 5,803,300 -
BMEBRERBAER Equipment maintenance and
communication expenses 1,828,679 1,920,916
HEREFZ WL Estate agent card expenses 82,434 90,342
R & Insurance 1,352,485 1,265,973
HEAAECMEZT Interest expense on lease liabilities 247,052 -
A ES Motor vehicle operating expenses 133,685 207,768
MAERMBBERX Office accommodation and related
expenses 2,497,760 3,502,658
CETHERS - L NMEF  Operating lease rentals in respect
of land and buildings - 7,771,583
BE Postage 369,935 388,671
EN Il K 3 B Printing and stationery 395,362 504,108
ZERBFER Professional service fees 646,970 42,000
NHBRREARE Public relations and liaison 12,536 51,263
EELES Publicity and advertising 12,760 20,300
B TR Staff costs
- ¥e MERL - wages, salaries and allowances 49,865,700 48,930,361
- BHMEAESHK — contributions to mandatory
provident fund scheme 1,394,802 1,396,713
ZHARBEE Service fees for examinations 3,537,370 6,138,421
BHINEBFH X Training activity expenses 595,202 659,408
Hanp X Other expenses 883,190 741,116
75,938,435 80,648,830
BEEXERED Professional development subsidy 7 20,551,000 -
96,489,435 80,648,830
FR(BE)BEHEREMEE  (Deficit) surplus and total
(X)W B comprehensive (expense) income
for the year (5,112,747) 12,214,642

HEMREBEER 2019/20 F3k
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B 3% AR O 3 Statement of Financial Position
R2020F3 A31H At 31 March 2020
2020 2019
MRE BT BT
NOTES HK$ HKS
IERBEE Non-current assets
M - SR NGRE Property, plant and equipment 9 81,350,867 84,539,703
FRHEEE Right-of-use assets 10 9,464,035 -
90,814,902 84,539,703
MEEE Current assets
FEURBREZN -« FEfRTFIE KRIR4E  Debtors, prepayments and deposits 3,032,430 3,900,342
TEHTFH Time deposits 11 70,471,747 64,959,029
WITHHBR LIRS Bank balances and cash 11 127,425,199 115,300,886
200,929,376 184,160,257
RBaE Current liabilities
JERTERF K FEETIR B Creditors and accruals 9,873,527 11,531,310
JERT B X3 RE B Professional development subsidy
payable 7 20,551,000 -
AHEE Contract liabilities 12 67,570,726 68,249,955
HEAE Lease liabilities 13 5,692,614 -
103,687,867 79,781,265
mBEEFE Net current assets 97,241,509 104,378,992
REERRPDEE Total assets less current liabilities 188,056,411 188,918,695
s Reserve 183,805,948 188,918,695
EMBAR Non-current liability
HEBE Lease liabilities 13 4,250,463 -
188,056,411 188,918,695

The financial statements on pages 116 to 152 were approved
and authorised for issue by the members of Estate Agents
Authority on 21 July 2020 and are signed on their behalf by:

HPFE 116 E 152 B 2 P EHREZ M 2020 F
7H21 REMERIBEE B2 EKEHE
RIEEAZE  THATRERER

William LEUNG Wing-cheung
CHAIRMAN

Ruby HON Yuen-ping
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

RKHE B
B 7T B,
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RESBR Statement of Movements in Reserve
HZE2020F3A31HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2020

st

Total

BT

HK$
H2018F 4 A1H At 1 April 2018 176,704,053
FANBH Surplus for the year 12,214,642
7R 20194 3 A31H At 31 March 2019 188,918,695
FANBE Deficit for the year (5,112,747)
20204 3 A31H At 31 March 2020 183,805,948
EEELERBEER(EERNE Reserve represents retained cumulative surplus from the
BRERR o operations of Estate Agents Authority (“EAA”).
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HERER Statement of Cash Flows
HE2020F3A31HILFE For the year ended 31 March 2020
2020 2019
BT BT
HK$ HK$
EIEEE OPERATING ACTIVITIES
FAER) &R (Deficit) surplus for the year (5,112,747) 12,214,642
RTINS IEELAE Adjustments for:
B A Interest income (3,723,431) (2,780,858)
HMEABZMEXL Interest expense on lease liabilities 247,052 -
M MBERREITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 4,457,269 4,998,076
FREEEZITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 5,803,300 -
LEBLEBMz EEHSMRE Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital 1,671,443 14,431,860
JEUER X ~ FEMFUBKRIZ SR Decrease in debtors, prepayments and
deposits 695,965 665,121
FERBRZ R FEAHTEE R4 )N (Decrease) increase in creditors and
accruals (1,476,893) 2,567,867
FET BB R E B IE N Increase in professional development
subsidy payable 20,551,000 -
BHBEBCRD)H N (Decrease) increase in contract liabilities (679,229) 1,093,245
EEEBMEREFE NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 20,762,286 18,758,093
REEE INVESTING ACTIVITIES
GETEBEFER Placement of time deposits (5,512,718)  (43,172,670)
BEE  WELRE Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,268,433) (73,888,325)
BEFE Interest received 3,895,378 2,210,157
wEEESMARE R NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES (2,885,773) (114,850,838)
RMEITEMARSE CASH USED IN A FINANCING ACTIVITY
YTRNHEEaE Repayment of lease liabilities (5,752,200) -
WE NIREEEWENCHED) NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
R AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 12,124,313 (96,092,745)
FUNRELRESEED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 115,300,886 211,393,631
FHROBERREEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE
END OF THE YEAR 127,425,199 115,300,886
RekREEEDMEHIT ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS:
RITHBR RIS Bank balances and cash 127,425,199 115,300,886
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2020

1.

General

EAA was established with the principal functions of
promoting integrity and competence of estate agents and
issuing estate agents’ licences under the Estate Agents
Ordinance dated 29 May 1997 (date of enactment). The
address of the registered office and principal place of
business of EAA is Room 4801, 48th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollar, which is the same as the functional currency of
EAA.

Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

EAA has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs and an interpretation issued by the HKICPA for
the first time in the current year:

HE
Leases

PRSI HE E 1 B BR 38
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

BREENENFIERS T
Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

BECHRE e

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

REEERFI LA L RN RPERS
Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

BERVBRELEN _E-—FE_T—+tFER L FEICE
Annual Improvements to HKFRSS 2015-2017 Cycle
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Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

Except as described below, the application of the above
new and amendments to HKFRSs and an interpretation
in the current year is either not applicable or has had no
material effect on the EAA’s financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these financial statements.

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases

EAA has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in
the current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17
Leases, and the related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

EAA has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified
as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease and not apply this standard to contracts that
were not previously identified as containing a lease.
Therefore, EAA has not reassessed contracts which
already existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
1 April 2019, EAA applies the definition of a lease in
accordance with the requirements set out in HKFRS
16 in assessing whether a contract contains a lease.
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Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)

2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee

As at 1 April 2019, EAA recognised additional lease
liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts equal to
the related lease liabilities adjusted by any accrued
lease payments by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii)
transition. Any difference at the date of initial
application is recognised in the opening retained
profits and comparative information has not been
restated.

When applying the modified retrospective approach
under HKFRS 16 at transition, EAA applied the
following practical expedient to leases previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on
lease-by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the
respective lease contracts:

- relied on the assessment of whether leases
are onerous by applying HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets as
an alternative of impairment review.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases
previously classified as operating leases, EAA has
applied incremental borrowing rates at the date of
initial application. The incremental borrowing rate
applied is 2%.
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FERHIREEBITI2ER 2. Application of New and Amendments
MEHREER ([ EBME to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
WEZER ] @) Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
TFEERBIERZHITRKBITZ New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
ERMKHREEN(E) mandatorily effective for the current year
(continued)
21 ERAMBERSEANFE16HEE 2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)
(&)
ERARBA (&) As a lessee (continued)
2019
4H1H
At
1 April
2019
BT
HK$
M201946 3 A31 HEH B Operating lease commitments disclosed as
KA AE at 31 March 2019 15,422,040
LEREISIERF R REEAES  Lease liabilities relating to operating leases
SRS ERE 1658 T - EER discounted at relevant incremental
mITIR L ERENEERE borrowing rate and recognised upon
application of HKFRS 16 15,028,007
R2019F 4 A1AMEEEE Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 15,028,007
EIv=! Analysed as
Vi) Current 5,451,494
JEH Non-current 9,576,513
15,028,007
R2019FE 4818 FHEES The carrying amount of right-of-use assets as at
ENEmEEAEUTEE 1 April 2019 comprises the following:
TREEE
Right-of-use
assets
Bt aE BT
Note HK$
EREBAEEVBEREEDNF 165~ Right-of-use assets relating to
EmREGCLHENBEOFER®E  operating leases recognised upon
BE application of HKFRS 16 15,028,007
B R2019F 4 1B EAMEME Less: Accrued lease liabilities relating
O RFHERE to rent-free period at 1 April
2019 (a) (180,890)
14,847,117
R By class:
NS Office premises 14,847,117
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2. ERAFIREEBII2ESR 2. Application of New and Amendments
M| EER ([ FBEIE to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
HEEL ] @ Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)
AEERFAERZHFITRKBITZ New and Amendments to HKFRSs that are
ERMKHREEN(E) mandatorily effective for the current year

(continued)
21 BERAMBERSEANFE16HEE 2.1 HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)
(&)
ERARBA(E) As a lessee (continued)
R2019F 4 A1 8 - A The following adjustments were made to the amounts
MNEPERANSEHETTIA recognised in the statement of financial position at
TR A BERTZEMNEIR 1 April 2019. Line items that were not affected by
I EBIEIEA © the changes have not been included.
20194
4R1817%
R 20194 BB
3H31H HwEZER
BAREH F16HTH
RESHE PR RESR
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at HKFRS 16 at
31 March 1 April
2019 Adjustments 2019
B 5 BT BT BT
Note HK$ HK$ HK$
FRBEE Non-current assets
EREEE Right-of-use assets (a) - 14,847,117 14,847,117
REEE Current liabilities
FERT AR FEETIE B Creditors and accruals (a) 11,531,310 (180,890) 11,350,420
HEAE Lease liabilities — 5,451,494 5,451,494
IRBEE Non-current liabilities
MHEBE Lease liabilities - 9,576,513 9,576,513
5T - Note:
(a) EutJyeRHFE AR % H (a) These relate to accrued lease liabilities for leases of
HYEHRSEAHEARES properties in which the lessors provided rent-free period.
B M2019%F4A18H " & The carrying amount of the lease incentive liabilities
BT ERF &FEDJrIEETE’ﬁﬂ under creditors and accruals as at 1 April 2019 was
EEEaEERSE adjusted to right-of-use assets at transition.
i@ﬁ%@@ﬁ%&%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁé .
WERIEEER 2019/20F#H
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BAMGHRERNFEATH
HKFRS 17

BEUBERELNFE 16 RET R
Amendment to HKFRS 16

ERUBmELERE RIS R
Amendments to HKFRS 3

BEUFRELERE IRIEFTA
Amendments to HKFRS 3

BREVHEREERE10REIT AR
BB G ERE 28 SRIBET A
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

BB EAE 1 FRIETEAR
EAGERE8HIBEFI A
Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKAS 8

EESHENFE 16 RIEFT AN
Amendments to HKAS 16

BB GFTERE I7HREBEI AR
Amendments to HKAS 37

BERBPHmELRE IFIEETA -
BB EFTERE I9RBET AR
BERTBRELERE 7 RISETAR

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS
39 and HKFRS 7

BB BRELEASET R
Amendments to HKFRSs

Bt ¥R X Financial Statements

Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

EAA has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

1%»«13? !

Insurance Contracts’

HIAERRSHBENHESER®
COVID-19 Related Rent Concession®

EBHER®

Definition of a Business?®

BESIERBSI A ®
Reference to the Conceptual Framework®
REERABENAERNAZMNEERER/AS

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

BANTEE’
Definition of Material®
P - WENERE - EZRTETFERMRER 2B

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before
Intended Use®

BRMEAL - BITEHBHMRA®

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract’
FRigEsE

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform*
EEMBREEN S N\EE_S_TFFEHRE®

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020°
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Application of New and Amendments
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

New and Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2021

Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for
which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020

2

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The management of EAA anticipates that application of
all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Estate Agents Ordinance.

The financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period,
as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, EAA takes into account the characteristics of
the asset or liability if market participants would take
those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 (since 1 April 2019) or HKAS 17 (before
application of HKFRS 16), and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, EAA recognises income when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by EAA’s performance as EAA
performs;

° EAA’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as EAA performs; or

o EAA’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to EAA and EAA has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct goods or
services.

A contract liability represents EAA’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which EAA has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract liability relating to the same contract is
accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Income from licence fees

Income from licence fees is recognised over the licence
fees period by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance
obligation, as the licensees simultaneously receive and
consume the benefits provided by EAA’s performance as
EAA performs.

Income from examination fees

Income from examination fees is recognised at a point
in time at the date of examination when the service is
delivered to candidates.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict EAA’s performance in transferring control
of goods or services.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, EAA assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

EAA as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by EAA; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by EAA in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

EAA presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the statement of financial position.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

EAA as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, EAA recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, EAA uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects EAA exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

EAA remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever the lease term has changed or there
is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

EAA presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

EAA accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease

by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

EAA as a lessee (upon application of HKFRS 16 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (continued)

Lease modifications (continued)

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, EAA remeasures the lease liability based
on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification.

EAA accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
and lease incentives from lessor by making corresponding
adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, EAA
allocates the consideration in the modified contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

EAA as a lessee (prior to 1 April 2019)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring
land held under operating leases, are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes. Property,
plant and equipment are stated in the statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and deprecation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the
statement of income and expenditure.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset
is impaired, EAA has to exercise judgment and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset
value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can
be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows
which are estimated based upon the continued use of
the asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be
applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including
cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset (including right-of-use
assets), EAA estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value
used in the impairment test.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when EAA becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales
of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 since 1 April
2018. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that economic benefits will flow into EAA
and the amount of income can be measured reliably.
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Amortisation cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Estate Agents Authority Annual Report 2019/20

135



136

B 7% R

FESHEEX®
SMIA)
SREEE)
PREEME

REFBMBRELERNFON &
ERMEREZEBEERRAD
EEBBRZERER - HHEER
BZHERESREAEHN - AR
BERERREERR 22 -

2HIEHEERERERAETAR
B2 HRAMERREENEHME
EMBEHEEER Bk 12
ANEREEBELSERNHRE B H
‘121 A AR BEEEMBLOEMM
BAHEEAN MO 2HEHREES
BoAAORBEEERZELEER
BRERET  IRBEEHSARKE
ZHE - —REBEANRARE R E
B & ATAR I 2 & (4 A S 5 R G000
ZIERIEH R -

B TAMS  EERFEZE
BEERSENT _EAEREES
1B RIEEEERRE A RERIEK
IR AEERERAZMEN
SEER - ROERIZHANE
BEEBZAETER B BRFER A
KRBELEEND 2B ER 2 BE
K e

() EERBREZEN

R EEERR B &R RN
RELREERNE  EERG
RBEBSRMITARLEENY
EREEAEREASHMTA
BABYHZRAREITLE - B
ETZAEE  EERGEEE
EBAAXHZEEMENEE
B BEEFNETBEZR
AL Nl 15 2 FE L5 &
ATEIEE R -

HEMREBEER 2019/20 F3k

Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

EAA recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
loss (“ECL") on financial assets which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment is
done based on EAA’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both
the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

For all instruments, EAA measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
EAA recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring
since initial recognition.

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, EAA compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, EAA considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’'s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, EAA presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when past due, unless EAA has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

EAA regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, EAA considers
an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay
its creditors, including EAA, in full.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about
the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(d) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

EAA writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under EAA’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in income
and expenditure.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to EAA in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
EAA expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Derecognition of financial assets

EAA derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset
to another entity. If EAA neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, EAA recognises
its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If EAA retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a
transferred financial asset, EAA continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised
borrowing for the proceeds received.
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Financial Statements

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in income and expenditure.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definition of a financial liability.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including creditors, professional
development subsidy payable, accruals and lease
liabilities) are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

EAA derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, EAA’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in the statement of income
and expenditure.

Employee benefits
Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees.

A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave as a result of services rendered by employees up
to the end of the reporting period.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Employee benefits — provident fund obligations

EAA operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
scheme”) in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF scheme
are held in a separate trustee — administered fund. Both
EAA and the employees are required to contribute 5%
of the employee’s relevant income up to a maximum of
HK$1,500 (2019: HK$1,500) per employee per month.
EAA’s contributions to the MPF scheme are expensed as
incurred.

Critical Accounting Judgment and Key
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

In the process of applying EAA’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, management had made
the following judgments that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements.

Impairment assessment of debtors

Debtors are measured at initial recognition at fair value,
and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Appropriate allowances
for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in
the statement of income and expenditure when there is
objective evidence that the asset is impaired.

In determining individual allowances, EAA has considered
that detailed procedures have been in place to monitor
this risk. In determining whether impairment assessment
of HKFRS 9 is required, EAA takes into consideration
the aging status, the likelihood of collection and the
estimated discounted future cash flows. Specific
allowance is made for debtors that are unlikely to be
collected. If the financial conditions of these debtors were
to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to
make payments, allowances may be required.
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ERETHAERAT TR 4. Critical Accounting Judgment and Key
EREZFERER@® Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)
P& Uk R SR 2 R B Ak (48 Impairment assessment of debtors (continued)

EE R h R RA AR = B 5T EAA assesses the internal credit ratings for debtors.
W BRIBEETEMEHRELERE Except for those which had been determined as credit
SHEE A ;f*f/DMEEI’]FHSZﬁE,Ty\(,\ impaired under HKFRS 9 the ECL of which is assessed
BHEA=EEE A BIFEE) I individually, debtors are grouped based on internal
WERRIZEANBEET R DA ﬁﬁEZ credit rating and the ECL on these assets are assessed
ZEENEHEEREKTERARE collectively using a provision matrix. The provision
FEREMETREEBNM -  BEXDE rates are based on EAA’s historical default rates taking

REERNBAENE  WEEA into consideration forward-looking information that is
BeaBEAIFORAELER reasonable and supportable available without undue costs
BOTMERRARE N - REW or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed
LHE UBEENERTENXE default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
EFFE TERAEEERNE looking information are considered.
éb o
BHEEBEREREHTES LA The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
B EHEEREEBEREER The information about the ECL and EAA’s debtors are
FEYBERFRM AR M 16 3055 o disclosed in note 16.

ERE 5. Licence Fees
2020 2019
BT BT
HK$ HK$
[ AR B 48 A Total licence fees 81,175,857 80,971,414
EZ3E 6. Examination Fees
2020 2019
BT BT
HK$ HK$
WERBREXEERES Estate agents and salespersons
qualifying examinations 6,477,400 9,111,200

BEXERRED
FEFEER200200F1ASHILES
FAFEARE—LBEERRE

B) - A B IR ER B MO AC IR 1B
TERIEFESEERBKTE - £
E@EHE T - 2020863 A31H
BEBEREBHMERE(EA)ER
REEBEERMHAL  ESHEET
BEMMS00B L —EBER -

B 2019/20 F 3k

7.

Professional Development Subsidy

The Board approved the provision of a one-off
professional development subsidy to individual licensees
which was announced in January 2020 to assist them in
developing and maintaining their professional service
standard under the difficult operating environment. Under
the scheme, holders of a valid estate agent’s licence
(individual) or salesperson’s licence as at 31 March 2020
would each receive a one-off subsidy of HK$500 from
EAA.
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BiE 8. Taxation
RIB(RBIEDINES7IE LB RE EAA is exempt from Hong Kong Profits Tax under section
HRMMEBEBNE 87 of the Inland Revenue Ordinance.
Wik - EBERRE 9. Property, Plant and Equipment
RELHEK
BT HENEEE hat: BRREE B3] fit
Leasehold Furniture
land and Leasehold Motor and
building improvements vehicles fixtures Equipment Total

BT BT BT BT BT BT

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
R COST
R2018E4A1H At 1 April 2018 - 4,605,633 557,264 1,770,087 17,928,479 24,861,463
HE Additions 75,991,930 2474170 - 7,946,676 425,759 86,838,535
Bt Disposals - (1,422,839) - (405,931) (82,731) (1.911,501)
R2019F3A31H At 31 March 2019 75,991,930 5,656,964 557,264 9,310,832 18,271,507 109,788,497
NE Additions - 73,950 646,982 29,500 518,001 1,268,433
R2020F3 7318 At 31 March 2020 75,991,930 5,730,914 1,204,246 9,340,332 18,789,508 111,056,930
il DEPRECIATION
R2018F4A1H At 1 April 2018 - 4,593,330 557,264 1,757,616 15,254,009 22,162,219
ERikiE Provided for the year 1,473,401 355,550 - 1,028,262 2,140,863 4,998,076
s Eliminated on disposals - (1,422,839) - (405,931) (82,731) (1,911,501)
R201953 4318 At 31 March 2019 1,473,401 3,526,041 557,264 2,379,947 17,312,141 25,248,794
EREE Provided for the year 1,519,839 846,402 48524 1,595,651 446,853 4,457,269
R2020F3 4318 At 31 March 2020 2,993,240 4,372,443 605,788 3,975,598 17,758,994 29,706,063
REE NET BOOK VALUES
R2020F3 A31H At 31 March 2020 72,998,690 1,358,471 598,458 5,364,734 1,030,514 81,350,867
R2019F3 A31H At 31 March 2019 74,518,529 2,130,923 - 6,930,885 959,366 84,539,703

WME - s LRETEDIREGE
1% A F A B AVRIRIA T F R

HAA

HELIMRET
MEMEEE

"=
RKMEEKE
By

2%

20% =k & 1 &
F (M R
)

30%

20%

20% %= 30%

Depreciation is recognised to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method, at the following rates
per annum:

2%

20% or over the period
of the lease term if it is
less than 5 years

30%

20%

20% to 30%

Leasehold land and building
Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles
Furniture and fixtures
Equipment
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10. EFHEEE 10. Right-of-use Assets
HEME WRAERE B
Leased Office
properties equipment Total
BT BT BT
HK$ HK$ HK$
M2019%F481H As at 1 April 2019
RES Carrying amount 14,847,117 - 14,847,117
M2020F3 A31H As at 31 March 2020
RES Carrying amount 9,099,846 364,189 9,464,035
BE202053H31H For the year ended
LFE 31 March 2020
neE® Depreciation charge 5,747,271 56,029 5,803,300
FHREMBEE R Total cash outflow for
R B leases during the year (5,752,200)
FRAERAEEENIE Additions to right-of-use
Ea ] assets during the year 420,218

11.

H E22020F3A31HIEFE - &
ERAZLEMMEARAZTMPEA
ERE - HEAGANETHRA
SFELF - BEFLEHRKIER
1o MEBRFBREEANBREHE
WE  BEREsT TR
Bl o £ E A E B RFTETAEUE
HRMNEERRESR  BEEREAT
BREELRBESLARENITH
HABR

RTRBRALRENS
FA

BITHEBARSBEEEEREA
2HRERHBTEHAA20E69H
(2019 11 E67H) KEBKM
BEFMENF0.15% & 2.3% (2019
FNF003%E25%):TEZE
HSRITIEEK ©

R2020F3A31H A B 1% &
BEXABMAEHE MG — 2
101,407,511/ T B & €©(2019
% :99,611,0858 ) - EE & /B #
HEHNESUEREEER A
THEBEREBMIBRE -
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11.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, EAA leases offices
and office equipment for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of 3 years to 5 years, but
may have extension and termination options. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. In determining
the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, EAA applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract
is enforceable.

Bank Balances and Cash and Time
Deposits

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by EAA
and short-term bank deposits with remaining tenure of
20 to 69 days (2019: 11 to 67 days) at prevailing market
interest rates ranging from 0.15% to 2.3% per annum
(2019: 0.03% to 2.5% per annum).

As at 31 March 2020, a fund of HK$101,407,511 (2019:
HK$99,611,085) was maintained for the plan to acquire
permanent office accommodation in future. The amount
of the fund is determined at the discretion of EAA after
setting aside sufficient fund for sustaining its operation.
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g%ﬁ%%ﬁ%&ﬁ%&ﬁ,ﬁﬂﬁ 1.
FA ()

FTHERBES#THHA A132%
133 B (20194 : 120HE 130 H) -
RERKMBFMNEN F231%E
2.4% (20194 : 2.09% & 2.3%) 5
B RERITER -

EERRARFEEL RAERE
NEERE -
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Bank Balances and Cash and Time
Deposits (continued)

Time deposits comprise short-term bank deposits with
remaining tenure of 132 to 133 days (2019: 120 to 130
days) at prevailing market interest rates ranging from
2.31% to 2.4% per annum (2019: 2.09% to 2.3% per
annum).

EAA considers that the carrying amounts of these assets
approximate their fair values.

EHEE 12. Contract Liabilities
2020 2019
BT BT
HK$ HK$
IEIERE PR B UL A Deferred licence fees income 65,462,366 64,457,573
B U R B wE IR Licence application fee received 2,108,360 3,792,382
67,570,726 68,249,955
IR R E Licence fees
2020 2019
BT BT
HK$ HK$
DHRNERBEBIABESESFY Licence fee income recognised
MEeEHaBEEes that was included in the contract
liability balance at the beginning of
the year 53,849,177 53,392,956

PR & HI K 0 11,192,493 T &Y
AHBBE(20194F £ 11,192,713/
T)FEBRTERmEHRRET =
B A RNER -

At the end of the reporting period, contract liabilities
amounting to HK$11,192,493 (2019: HK$11,192,713) were
not expected to be realised within twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.
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13. HERE 13. Lease Liabilities
2020
BT
HK$
ENNEEARE : Lease liabilities due:
—F 2R Within one year 5,692,614
—F AL BB Within a period of more than one year but not
exceeding two years 4,049,179
MELE - BETBBRSF Within a period of more than two years but not
exceeding five years 201,284
9,943,077
B E+ A A AZIHIRER S Less: Amounts due for settlement within twelve
BERHEETER) months (shown under current liabilities) (5,692,614)
£+ & A 1& 2 His) fE 1 2 58 Amounts due for settlement after twelve months 4,250,463
14. REHE AR 14. Operating Lease Commitments
EEREREABEA EAA as lessee
PR2019%F3A318 EE A At 31 March 2019, EAA had commitments for future
REFZArAMEzREHE R minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
T3 AR 2 R R KA & R IB AR leases in respect of rented office premises which fall due
NN as follows:
2019
BT
HK$
—F R Within one year 5,693,400
F_EZERF(BEEEMSE) In the second to fifth year inclusive 9,728,640
15,422,040
KEHEREDNEERMENSER Operating lease payments represent rentals payable
ERzE2 HEERBE2FEHE= by EAA for certain of its office premises. Leases are
FHRE—R° negotiated for and rentals are fixed for an average term

of three years.
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15. EXRE M ERE 15. Capital Risk Management

EERNEARATEZRRBHMKIT LA
RATEENRER HEARBTEMNE
MEZRREE REFELE - XU
RAMEREBOZEERTREEK
oo

EEREMRMTEREEEAR
B UEREEREXENEZ N
EEEREARFR - EERBEL
MERETTHIREEK - BEERDRE
HRANE S ABFHEER - #
F—2&E% UWEFSBEREEX

AWRE o

EREEEANSE BRI E
B o BB R TR T AR AR B
BE  URRZEVELEEL o

16. €@ T H

a. TMIEER

EAA’s capital comprises primarily the fund accumulated
since its establishment, and its objective when managing
the capital is to ensure that EAA will be able to continue
as a going concern so that it can continue to promote
integrity and competence of estate agents.

EAA regularly reviews and manages its capital to ensure
adequacy for both the operational and capital needs.
EAA operates a zero distribution policy with regard to
surpluses generated. EAA maintains a fund for the plan
to acquire permanent office accommodation in future
after setting aside sufficient fund for sustaining EAA’s
operation.

EAA charges annual licence fees on the estate agents.
EAA regularly reviews the need to increase licence fees

to ensure operational needs are fully covered.

16. Financial Instruments

a. Categories of financial instruments

2020 2019
BT BT
HK$ HK$
ERMEE - Financial assets:
BEHENATECEMEE Financial assets at amortised
cost
A JE WK Sundry receivables 968,918 1,840,324
Bf%EE Deposit paid 1,480,754 1,417,026
TEHER - BIEHEES Time deposits, bank balances
and cash 197,896,946 180,259,915
200,346,618 183,517,265
EEEE: Financial liabilities:
b E )N Amortised costs
JE 1~ BR 5K Creditors 9,873,527 11,350,420
JERTE X3 RE B Professional development
subsidy payable 20,551,000 -
30,424,527 11,350,420
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16. Financial Instruments (continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

EAA’s financial instruments include sundry
receivables, time deposits, bank balances and
cash, creditors, professional development subsidy
payable and lease liabilities. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (including interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
that appropriate measures are implemented in timely
and effective manner.

Market risk
Cash flow interest rate risk

EAA is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
through the impact of rate changes on interest
bearing financial assets. Interest bearing financial
assets are mainly balances with banks which are all
short term in nature. Therefore, any future variation
in interest rates will not have a significant impact on
the results of EAA.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations resulting
in financial loss to EAA. EAA’s exposure of its
counterparties are continuously monitored, received
and approved.

In order to minimise the credit risk, EAA reviews the
recoverable amount of the receivables at the end
of each reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, EAA considers that EAA’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.
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16. Financial Instruments (continued)

cHEREERFERBER(E) b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
EERE(E) Credit risk (continued)

FRWERNFEREEEHE In determining the ECL for debtors, EAA has taken
Hq’ EERAEGNBAL into account the historical default experience and
BLAEER  EEREER forward-looking information, as appropriate. EAA has
BAEEBYHYRFERMME TE considered the consistently low historical default
BRI EM BB TEER rate and concluded that credit risk is inherent in
%o EEERE— S L EME EAA’s sundry receivable. EAA has further assessed
Wk B VIR ERE L R EIRE that sundry receivables have not had a significant
ERRBAREIEM - BEORR increase in credit risk since initial recognition and
TEKXK A TEEDRE - risk of default is insignificant, and therefore, no

impairment has been recognised.
HZE2020F3 A31HM&2019 During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no
FIA3BLLEFE - RIBEEH material impairment allowance on deposit paid was
EFEEEBTE  TERBEZ provided based on the ECL assessment.
SREBERXRERME -
EHFRERBES ZEER The credit risk on time deposits and liquid funds is
RAK - REZRXSHFRE limited because the counterparties are banks with
Eﬁ?%%ZﬁEﬁ ° good reputation.
EERANTEERRBITRET EAA’s internal credit risk grading assessment
HIIERIAEAK comprises the following categories:
RIS B LR A CREE
Internal credit rating Description Financial assets
fB17 RSGHFHZENRRRIE - BV BEMBHRERIE TZEAEREEBIE
Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not 12-month ECL
have any past-due amounts
ERERE RERIBAREEMAETNIHARENNES TZEAEREERSE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually 12-month ECL
settle after due date
2= BEABERERSNBER  FERRBVEERARE 2HEHREEEE -
EE mEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk L|fet|me ECL -
since initial recognition through information developed not credit-impaired
internally or external resources
B18 BEEBETEELREERAE S HBEHMEEEE -
BEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired  Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired
ki BEBREMBADYRENRRE R A T
EERTEERATKEEE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe ~ Amount is written off

financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic

prospect of recovery
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16. €@ T B s) 16. Financial Instruments (continued)
b. £REKREEEEREEE) b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
EEREE(E) Credit risk (continued)
TRHFNEERSMEE(E The tables below detail the credit risk exposures
EITHEHREEESEITG) A of EAA’s financial assets which are subject to ECL
R EERR assessment:
TZEAR
PBEEIR ABEETR ERBEERR REAE
External Internal 12-month or
credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
2020 2019
B BT
HK$ HK$
RAERANENEREE
Financial assets at amortised cost
Eth WK TiEA Ef1(MEa) T_EABREERE
Sundry receivables N/A Performing (note a) ~ 12-month ECL 968,918 1,840,324
RARECEA TR Bi7(Mita) T EARHEEEE
Deposit paid N/A Performing (note a) ~ 12-month ECL 1,480,754 1,417,026
TEER - BARkRe Aa3EA3 TR TEARSEEER
Time deposits, bank balances and cash  Aa3 to A3 N/A 12-month ECL 197,896,946 180,259,915

P

(a) BMAMEERBRERMS -
EE B M B H b ek
REENRSWHMBER -
VAT i B 9100 AR 1R 15 B AL
R BEEEM -

MBELEE

EEREEEHRDESRER
BESKREREME  RECH
EERZER PHEEHE
EMRBECERRTERLE
BEZRBERREEER -
EEREERBEBEREMHF
BARBEERARRERR
eRE - -UEBRDESR

B o
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Note:

(a)  For the purpose of internal credit risk management, EAA
uses the financial information of the past-due information
of sundry receivables and deposit paid to assess
whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition.

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management
rests with management of EAA, which has built an
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for
the management of EAA’s short, medium and long-
term funding and liquidity management requirements.
Management of EAA manages liquidity risk by
maintaining adequate reserve and continuously
monitors the forecast and actual cash flows.
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16. Financial Instruments (continued)

cREREEEERBEKR(E) b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
TEEZERE(E) Liquidity risk (continued)
THREIEERFTESHE The following table details EAA’s remaining
B2 TERNREA - ZKTD contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
7FET)§§””}%T%&;<IQHipﬂ liabilities on the agreed repayment terms. The table
BEZEFHHER - R has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
TRBEZRUBERERE - flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which EAA can be required to pay.
T
ERF= RERRS
% 0230%X 1fRZE1E 1E5E RELE REE
Weighted
average Total
effective 0-30 1 month - 1-5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate days 1 year years  cash flows amount
BT BT BT BT BT
% HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
2020 % 2020
ERER Creditors - 9,771,527 102,000 - 9,873,527 9,873,527
ENEERRER  Professional
development
subsidy payable - - 20,551,000 - 20,551,000 20,551,000
HESE Lease liabilities 2 576,690 5,254,770 4,279,380 10,110,840 9,943,077
10,348,217 25,907,770 4,279,380 40,535,367 40,367,604
2019% 2019
FEIERN Creditors - 10,806,331 544,089 - 11,350,420 11,350,420
ANEEE c. Fair values

cRHEENEREBEZAFE
B ZMBRBEETRESMEERE
Ry FERAET -

E/:Eq)%uu ! ﬁéﬂ]fﬁ%i&%iﬁﬁg
HKAANENEREERER

BEZEREEEQFEEM
# o

The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

EAA considers that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the financial statements approximate their
corresponding fair values.
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BoMEIPAELNEELSRS
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17. Reconciliation of a Liability Arising from

Financing Activity

The table below details changes in EAA’s liability arising
from financing activity, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liability arising from financing activity is that
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in EAA’s statement of cash flows as cash flows
from financing activity.

HEAE
Lease liabilities
BT
HK$
MR2018F4 1B K At 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019
201943 A 31H -
FEACE BB ®EERD Adjustment upon application of HKFRS 16
F 165 M FHE 15,028,007
R2019F 4 A1 H(ES) At 1 April 2019 (restated) 15,028,007
BEREM Financing cash flow (5,752,200)
HBRMFHEE New lease entered 420,218
FEX Interest expense 247,052
202043 A31H At 31 March 2020 9,943,077
HEHRENSE 18. Event after the Reporting Period

EE_@WIERNERES|T BB
FRTHRRF#EEREER -
[ 3 2 OO R R B A5 R A SR ]
—ERANRSER - UE BT
REMWERE TEMERNTE -
BT MM BEUE o

FEZR2020F4 A8H(BI1TTHR &
BEEMEMRER)IFEERBEAR
RO ERB(EA) BB E
ERBIMAT  UEEFZN2020
%4 A8 Bk ATk E A KRR (B
HERBEA) BB EEEE
B8 ) B 35 W W 20204 12 A 31 B 3
ZRTEMRGBERBOAL  HEER
ERReER - EHSBHESENE
FEREER ) 24 1B AR B -

EERDN2020F5 AE 0 RIE
A ESE B A8 Uk BT Ok B B9 & B 38 S
MEMZH  BRBFRITEAES
#EH B RE B -

HEMREBEER 2019/20 F3k

Under the second round of Anti-epidemic Fund, the
Government of Hong Kong Special Administration Region
will provide a one-off cash subsidy to individual licensees
of the estate agency trade via EAA to provide some timely
financial support in view of the adverse impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic on their practice of estate agency
work.

Each individual licensee who held a valid licence (i.e.
estate agent’s licence (individual) or salesperson’s
licence) on 8 April 2020 (i.e. the date on which the Chief
Executive announced the measure); and each individual
who has submitted an application for an individual licence
(i.e. estate agent’s licence (individual) or salesperson’s
licence) on or before 8 April 2020 and whose licence
is approved by 31 December 2020 are eligible for the
cash subsidy. The amount of cash subsidy is equal to
24-month licence fee for respective licences.

EAA has started to disburse the subsidy by bank cashier’s
order since May 2020 by post in batches according to
the disbursement schedule and arrangements posted on
its website.
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